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The text for this annual report was taken principally from our Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 26, 2002.

Safe Harbor Statement. This annual report contains historical information and forward-looking state-
ments within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to our busi-
ness, financial condition and results of operations. The words “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” "expect” and
similar expressions are intended fo identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking staternents
are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those con-
templated in such forward-looking statements. Further, we operate in an industry sector where securities
values may be volatile and may be influenced by economic and ofther factors beyond our control. In the
context of the forward-looking information provided in this annual report and in other reports, please refer
to the discussions of risk factors detailed in, as well as the other information contained in, our other filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Dear Fellow Shafchcﬁdcv, L R S T y ‘ %;;;2
in 2001, we expanded our product line. mto a vast range of applications for power-hungry pontable
communications devices; we began to take market share from regular alkaline batteries; we conducted. .
successful field tests of our battery packs with the United States Army and Marines as part of our defense -
program; and we successfully demonstrated our all-electric transit bus in Las Vegas and on Capn‘:ol Hall
taking a further step on the road to making full size all-electric transit bus fleets a reality. S

All of this is made possible by our patented zmc—alr fuel call technology which excels in appl ca'nons
requanng h|gh energy densnty ;s ow cost in mass productlon and IS safe and enwronmentally bemgn ’

Consumer Products

o We obtzgined initial orders from Orange UK Tcsco Bﬂtnsh Alir, Metro AG, and Rewe Groups :
ProMarkt stores in Europe; from RadtoShack Canada and from RadtoShaek and & top tner wu'e- g
less carrier in the Umtedi States. HERE R ORI : LA : , S

o We created a full line of “Instant Power™ Travel Charglng Solutaons” for celiphones and PDAs.

o We introduced new batteries for camcorders and digital cameras, mcludlng for the first time, a”
battery that competes directly with alkaline batteries.. S

o We continued fc seek creative ways to educate consumers regardmg our products.

Electric Vehlcle

o . Qur zinc-gir fuel cell bus zoa;ssed severai ngorous fzes‘ts as pairt of Phase 2 of our project wrth the )
U.S. Federal Transit Administration, traveling 87 miles under typical cxty bus driving COﬂdlthﬂS
including stop and.go, acceleraf jon and constant speed

o We conducted successful on-road demonstrataons of our bus, in ﬂ.as Vegas Nevada, and
Washington, D.C., on Capitol Hill, with the participation of members of the United States Senate

o We received a commitment from the Regional Transportiation Commission of Southern Nevadafo. '
participate in a proposed demonstration-of a “‘mini-fleet” of our buses in Las Vegas.

Defense and Security Products

- o We recorded successful results from.an smpresswe series of muhtavy field exercises conducteol by
several U.S. Army and Marine Corps units, enabling us, with the increasing acceptance of our
technology, 0 look forward to obtalnmg a SIQmﬁcant share of this defense market B iy

Finance : :
o We completed an $1‘ﬂ 5 million oﬁ‘enng in May 2001 and a successfu $7.2 mi llion shelf ﬂnancmg
in late 2004-early 2002, and this during one of the worst bear markets in memory. While we re-

gretted the dilution to shareholders, the money raised was essential to our being able to continue '
our critical marketing and research and development efforts.

During 2002 and beyond; we Iook forward to seeing our Instant Power brand of power solutions re-
ceiving greater consumer recognition and gaining entry into areas that have until now been served exclu-
sively by alkaline and other technologies; our products .expanding into the defense and “home security”
markets; and our eleciric bus running on the streets of Las Vegas and, in.due course, on a commerceal
basis in cities across America.

Sincerely,

mobbig.shien - vedeHams
Chairman of the Board ... . ... Presidentand CEQ
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General

We are a world leader in primary and refu-
elable Zinc-Air fuel cell technology, picneering
advancements in consumer electronics, electric
vehicles and defense and security products.

We based our line of Instant Power dispos-
able chargers and batteries for cellular tele-
phones, PDAs, digital cameras and camcorders
on our patented Zinc-Air fuel cell technology. The
batteries, which come fuily charged and ready to
use right out of the pack, provide consumers with
up to five times more usage time when compared
with conventional rechargeable batteries such as
those typically provided by the device manufac-
turer as original eguipment. The pocket-sized
chargers, which weigh less than three ounces
and plug directly into a celiphone or PDA, allow
these devices 1o be recharged and used on the
move without an electrical outlet.

We are also engaged in the design, devel-
opment and commercialization of our proprietary
fuel cell technology for other portable consumer
electronic devices, as well as for electric vehi-
cles and defense and security product applica-
tions.

We have been engaged in research and de-
velopment in the field of zinc-air electrochemistry
and battery design for over ten years, as a resuit
of which we have developed our current tech-
nology and its applications. We have success-
fully applied our technology to our instant Power
line of high-capacity zinc-air chargers and dis-
posable batteries for ceilular telephones and
other portable consumer electronic devices, and
to high-energy battery packs for military and se-
curity applications. We have also applied our
technology to the development of a refuelable
zinc-air fuel cell for powering zero-emission elec-
{ric vehicles, which we have successfully dem-
onstrated in "on-the-road” programs in Germany,
Sweden, ltaly, Israel and the United States, most
recently in a public test in Las Vegas, Nevada.
Through these efforls, we have sought t0 posi-
tion ourselves as a world leader in the applica-
tion of zinc-air technology to innovative primary
and refuelable power sources.

While zinc-air technology has been in use
for over a century in a great variety of typically
low-power devices (such as hearing aids), we
have developed technoclogies that provide our
(environmentally-friendly) Dbatteries with en-
hanced performance in both power and energy
at a low manufacturing cost. Our high-energy,
high-power zinc-air fuel cell is composed of a
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zinc anode and an air (oxygen reduction) cath-
ode. It is different from most other batiery tech-
nologies in that one of the electrodes — the air
cathode — is not consumed during discharge, but
instead acis as a kind of electrochemical mem-
brane that exiracts oxygen from the atmosphere
and introduces it into the cell. During discharge,
the oxygen is electrochemically reduced te hy-
droxide ions at the cathode, and zinc at the an-
ode is consumed by conversion to zinc oxide. In
electric vehicles, fresh zinc is generated out of
oxidized zin¢ in a regeneration process. In our
batteries and chargers for consumer electronics
devices, we construct the entire pack from low-
cost, recyclable components which can be dis-
posed of in an environmentally-safe manner,

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1880.
Uniess the context requires otherwise, all refer-
ences to us refer collectively to Electric Fuel
Corporation (EFC) and EFC’'s wholly-owned |is-
raeli subsidiary, Electric Fuel (E.F.L) Limited
(EFL), Electric Fuel Transportation Corp., and
other subsidiaries of EFC and EFL.

We concentrate our consumer product sales
and marketing efforts for Nerth America from our
headquarters office in New York. Our executive
offices are located at 832 Broadway, Suite 301,
New York, New York 10012, and our telephone
number at our executive offices is (212) 529-
9200. Our corporate website is www.electric-
fuel.com, and our Instant Power Division has es-
{ablished consumer-orienfed websites at
www.instani-power.com and www.instanipower.co.uk.
Reference to our websites does not constitute
incorporation of any of the information thereon
into this annual report.

We conduct our research, development and
production activities primarily through EFL at its
facility in Beit Shemesh, israel. We also have a
small battery research and development facility
in Auburn, Alabama that builds and tests proto-
type cells and batteries.

Business Strategy

To fully utifize our zinc-air fuel cell technol-
ogy for a wide seleclion of applications, we op-
erate in three business segments: Instant Power,
Electric Vehicles, and Defense and Security
Products (formerly Defense and Safety Prod-
ucts).

Our Instant Power Division develops and
has introduced consumer products for a variety
of portable electronic devices: disposable pri-




mary zinc-air batteries as a substitute for lower
performing and initially more expensive re-
chargeable batteries for celiphones, digital cam-
eras and camcorders, and ready-to-use zinc-air
chargers for rechargeable cellphcone and PDA
batteries that allow consumers to keep talking or
working on an empty battery during the charging
process.

We believe that there is a large potential
market for high-capacity primary chargers and
batteries that are capable of powering and re-
charging high-drain electronic devices, and we
are seeking ways to continue to commercialize
our zinc-air technology for such devices. We in-
tend to focus on increasing sales and distribution
of our existing consumer products for cefluiar
phones, PDAs, digital cameras and camcorders,
marketing these products through distributors,
wireless carriers, original equipment manufac-
turers (OEMs), accessory dealers, specialty and
general retailers, and Internet resellers.

We also intend to explore the possibility of
establishing strategic marketing and manufactur-
ing partnerships. Potential strategic partners for
batteries and chargers may include consumer
electronic device manufacturers, major retailers,
baitery producers and assemblers, wireless ac-
cessory distributors, celiular phone service pro-
viders and consumer goods distributors. We cur-
rently manufacture zinc-air cells and assembie
chargers and batteries for use in consumer elec-
tronic devices at our own facilities, although we
may later outsource part of this work as volume
increases. .

Our Electric Vehicle Division, conducted
through our subsidiary Electric Fuel Transpoita-
tion Coarp., continues to focus on obtaining and
implementing demonstration projects in the U.S.
and Eurcpe, and on building broad industry
partnerships that can lead to eventual commer-
cialization of the zinc-air energy system. This
approach supports our long-term strategy of
achieving widespread implementation of the
Electric Fuel zinc-air energy system for electric
vehicles in large commercial and mass transit
vehicle fleets. We intend to strengthen existing
relationships and to develop new networks of
strategic alliances with fleet operators, compa-
nies engaged in energy preduction and transpor-
tation, automobile manufacturers and others in
order to establish the infrastructure necessary
for further development and commaercialization
of the Electric Fuei Zinc-Air system.

With respect o our Defense and Security
Products Division, we base our strategy in the
defense business sector on the development
and commercialization of our next-generation
zinc-air fuel cell technology, as applied in our
ongoing work for the U.S. Army’s Communica-
tions and Electronics Command (CECOM). The
Division has undertaken limited production of
800-Wh battery packs with specific energy of
350 Wh/kg, which we believe is the highest spe-
cific energy of any battery available to the US
Armed Forces. We will continue to seek new ap-
plications for our technology in defense prejects,
wherever synergistic technolegy and business
benefits may exist. We intend to continue to de-
velop our battery preducts for defense agencies,
and plan to sell our products either directly to
such agencies or through prime contractors.

Our Defense and Security Products Divi-
sion's safety products group, which produces
lifejacket lights based on our patented water-
activated magnesium-cuprous chioride battery
technology, intends to continue to work with
OEMSs, distributors and end-user companies to
expand its market share in the aviation and ma-
rine segments. We presently sell four products in
the safety products group, two for use with ma-
rine life jackets and two for use with aviation life
vests. All four products are certified under appli-
cable international marine and aviation safety
regulations.

instant Power Division

The Instant Power Division began initial de-
liveries of disposable cellphone batteries in the
first line of commercial consumer products
based on Electric Fuel's zinc-air fuel cell tech-
nology in the second half of 1989. By the end of

| 2001, we were manufacturing and marketing

chargers compatible with varicus models of
Nokia, Motorola, Ericsson, Panasonic, Siemens,
Samsung, Audiovox, Nextel, Mitsubishi, Sagem
and Philips cellphones and with various models
of Palm, Handspring, Audiovox, Sharp, Toshiba,
Sony, HP, Casio, IBM and Compag PDAs and
Novatel wireless modems, as well as disposable
batteries suitable primariiy for various models of
Nokia cellphones, various models of SONY,
Nikon Coolpix, Olympus and Kodak digital cam-
eras, and various models of Sony Handycam
and JVC camcorders. At the end of 2001, our
products were on sale at retail outlets throughout
the United States, Canada, Europe and Israel,
including at such well-known retailers as Ra-
dioShack, 7-Eleven, CompUSA, Staples, AT&T
Wireless, and Wal-Mart, and other cellular and
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retail stores in the United States, and at the Car-
phone Warehouse, Orange, The Link, Dixons,
Tescos and other cellular and retail stores in the
United Kingdom, as weil as on Brilish Airways
flights.

We believe that two industry trends will have
a strong positive impact on the market for our
line of chargers and batieries:

o We believe that the emergence and pro-
jected growth of so-calied “convergence’
products ~ those which combine wireless
communications with computer functions
such as data and media transmission, and
internet and e-mail connection — will lead to
an increased demand for high-power bat-
teries and rechargers. The energy con-
sumption of the new devices will under-
score the limited capacity of rechargeables,
which incorporate high-drain elements
such as color screens and video.

o The amount of usage per user (usually
measured in minutes of aitime) is increas-
ing even faster than the number of users.

Chargers

Our Instant Power Chargers for cellphones
and PDAs are the first such chargers that not
only require no electricity but also give consum-
ers the option to keep taiking or working on an
empty battery during the charging process. The
chargers consist of a compact replaceabie Pow-
erCartridge, which is the same no matter what
celiphone or PDA is being charged, and a reus-
able SmartCord electronic adapter that connects
the PowerCartridge to the particuiar cellphone or
PDA and stays with the user for the life of the
device. The PowerCariridge has a capacity of
3300 miltiampere-hours (mAh), weighs approxi-
mately 76 grams (2.7 0z.) and is good for up to
three charges (or more on some models) and
hours of talk.

We produce or develop SmartCords for vari-
ous series and models of Nokia, Motorola, Erics-
son, Panasonic, Siemens, Samsung, Audiovox,
Mitsubishi, Sagem, Nextel and Philips
cellphones, models of Palm, Handspring, Casio,

- Audiovox, Sharp, Toshiba, SONY, HP and Com-

paq PDAs, and Novatel modems. We sell the In-
stant Power charger as a package, where we
sell the PowerCartridge with 2 SmariCord and a
recloseable aluminum pouch designed to store
the cartridge between uses. We also sell the In-
stani Power charger as our “2in1 Charger,”
where it is bundled with a universal in-car adap-
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tor that can be used in any car’s cigarette lighter.
Replaceable PowerCarlridges are sold sepa-
rately.

Batteries
Celiphones

We currently offer four models of disposable
zinc-air batteries for most Nokia and some Mo-
torola, Ericsson and Samsung celiphones, all
built from the same Eleciric Fuel zinc-air cells,
which are connected in series in order to deliver
the required voltage.

Digital Cameras and Camcorders

We offer fully charged, ready-to-use high-
capacity back-up batteries for digital, VHS-C and
8mm video camcorders and digital cameras. We
currently preduce six models of digital camera
batteries (three of which are for digital cameras
that normally use AA alkaline batteries) and two
models of camcorder batieries, all built from the
same Electric Fuel zinc-air cells, which are con-
nected in series in order to deliver the required
voltage. We sell all of them under the brand
name Instant Power. The batteries ihat we offer
are compatible with various models of SONY
(Mavica and Cyber-Shot), Nikon (Coolpix),
Olympus and Kodak digital cameras and SONY
(Handycam) and JVC camcorders. Our digital
camera and camcorder batteries connect to the
device through its DC jack. The battery comes
complete with a 90 cm (36") cord, and has an in-
tegral belt clip for convenience of use.

Advantages of Our Consumer Charger Products
Performance — Charge Without Electricity

Our Instant Power chargers, which consist
of a replaceable PowerCartridge and a reusable
SmartCord, aliow users to simultaneously
charge a celiphone or PDA anywhere, anytime,
without the need of an electric outlet, and to
keep talking and werking even if the unit's re-
chargeable battery is empty. Each disposable
PowerCariridge provides up to three charges (or
more on some models). We supply the Power-
Cartridge with a recloseable aluminum pouch
designed to store the cartridge between uses;
we alse sell replaceable cartridges separately.

Convenience and Efficiency

The Instant Power charger, with a three-year
shelf life, allows celiphone and PDA users to
keep talking and working even if their device's
battery is dead. It is compact (about twice the
size of a box of matches), easy to use and con-
venient. The Instant Power charger begins de-




livering power instantly, and contains a timer set
to end its charging cycle within approximately
two hours. After use, the user places the Pow-
erCartridge in the airtight pouch (provided) to
halt the chemical reaction and thereby preserve
power for the next recharge. Moreover, the
SmarntCord, which is reusable, is intended to
stay with the user for the life of the phone or
PDA, so that after the initial purchase the user
need only replace the PowerCartridge.

Safety and Envfrpnmem‘

Zinc-air is a proven, safe chemistry used ex-
tensively in hearing aids and pagers, as well as
other devices where a high-energy, lightweight
battery is desired. Underwriters’ Laboratories
has tested our chargers and batteries and found
them safe. Electric Fuel instant Power chargers
and batteries are designed to be environmentaily
benign and recyclable in the same manner as
primary alkaline batteries. At present, we are not
aware of any commercial recycling facilities
available either in the United States or in Europe
for primary alkaline or zinc-air batteries.

Advantages of Qur Consumer Battery Products
Battery Performance — Increased Use Time

Our Instant Power batteries deliver a unique
combination of high-energy density and high
power density, which provides superior perform-
ance in cellphones, digital cameras and camcor-
ders. Our Instant Power cellphone batteries pro-
vide 3 to 5 times more talk and standby time
than comparable rechargeable batteries made
for these products. Instant Power digital camera
and camcorder batteries give 3 to 5 times as
much use time as comparable rechargeable bat-
teries made for these products, and provide up
to 10 hours of continuous use (without LCD
screen), allowing users of digitai cameras to take
thousands of digital photos.

Convenience

The Electric Fuel Instant Power baitery of-
fers two kinds of convenience for users:

First, the battery is fully charged and ready
to use right out of the package, and requires no
initial charging, unlike new rechargeable batter-
ies which are typically sold (or provided with new
products) in an uncharged or partially charged
state. This can be critical for users of digitai
cameras and camcorders, who would otherwise
risk missing important moments.

Second, the battery frees the user from the
inconvenience of charging his or her cellphone

or camera battery. On business and vacation
trips, the user of the Instant Power battery bene-
fits both from not having to take along a charger
and from not having to remember to charge the

instrument every night. :

Thus, the Instant Power battery, with a
three-year shelf life, offers users convenience
similar to the convenience disposable alkaline
batteries provide for portable CD plavers or
pagers.

Electric Vehicle Division

We believe that environmental concerns and
current and proposed legislation create incentives
for fleet operators to use zero emission electric
vehicles, and that the Electric Fuel Zinc-Air En-
ergy System for electric vehicles is particularly
suitable for use by such fleet operations. For ex-
ample, the California Air Resources Board
(CARB) has adopted a regulation under which
transit agencies with fleets of 200 or more will be
required to purchase at least three zero emis-
sions buses by 2003. We believe the U.S. gov-
ernment will continue to use us as a subcontrac-
tor to develop electric vehicles, and we hope this
support will create incentives for fleet operators
(primarily bus and mass transit operators) to in-
troduce electric vehicles into their flests.

The Electric Fuel Zinc-Air Energy System for
Electric Vehicles

The Electric Fuel Zinc-Air Energy System
consists of:

e an in-vehicle, zinc-air fuei cell unit consist-
ing of a series of zinc-air cells and refu-
elable zinc-fuel anode cassettes:

o a battery exchange unit for fast vehicle
turn-around;

e an automated battery refueling system for
mechanically replacing depleted zinc-fue!
cassettes with charged cassettes; and

e a regeneration system for electrochemical
recycling and mechanicai repacking of the
discharged fuel cassettes.

With its proprietary high-power air cathode
and zinc anode technologies, our zinc-air fuel
cell delivers a unique combination of high-
energy density and high-power density, which
together power electric vehicles with speed, ac-
celeration, driving range and driver convenience
similar to that of conventionaily powered vehi-
cles,
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We believe that our zinc-air fuel cell system
for powering electric vehicles offers numerous
advantages over other electric vehicle batteries
that make it ideal for fleet and mass transit op-
erators. Fleet operators require a long operating
range, large payload capacity, operating flexibil-
ity, all-weather performance, fast vehicle turn-
around and competitive life-cycle costs. Electric
Fuel-powered full-size vehicles, capable of long-
range, high-speed trave!, could fulfill the needs
of transit operators in all weather conditions, with
fast, cost-effective refueling. An all-electric, full-
size bus powered by the Electric Fuel system
can provide to transit authorities a full day's op-
erating range for both heavy duty city and sub-
urban routes in all weather conditions.

In field triais with major European entities,
we have demonstrated the commercial viability
of our battery system by regularly driving 300 to
400 km in actual drive cycles. In 19986, a Mer-
cedes-Benz MB410 van powered by our zinc-air
fuel cell crossed the Alps, traveled from Cham-
bray, France over the Moncenisio Pass, and
continued to the zinc-air regeneration plant op-
erated by Electric Fuel’s ltalian licensee, Edison
Termoelettrica, SpA, in Turin, ltaly. The 152 mile
(244 km) drive included a 93 mile (150 km) con-
tinuous climb over mountainous terrain in which
the vehicle climbed over 4,950 feet (1,500 me-
ters) to reach the summit at 6,874 feet (2,083
meters), using only 65% of the battery's capac-
ity. In November 1897, an electric Mercedes-
Benz MB410 van drove from central London to
Central Paris on a single charge — a distance of
272 miles (439 km), not including the rail trans-
port through the English Channel Tunnel. .

During 2001, we successfully completed
performance testing of our zinc-air electric transit
bus, as part of Phase |i of our program with the
U.S. Department of Transportation's Federal
Transit Administration (described below). During
this performance testing, our bus was driven a
record-breaking 110 miles, more than 100 of
them under the rigorous stop-and-go diving con-
ditions of the Society of Automnotive Engineers’
Central Business District (CBD) cycle with a
50% passenger load. Subsequent to this test,
we demonstrated our bus in a public demonstra-
tion in Las Vegas, Nevada (in November 2001),
and in Washington, D.C., on Capitol Hill, with the
participation of certain members of the United
States Senate (in March 2002).
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Major Programs

We have formed several strategic pariner-
ships and are engaged in demonstration pro-
grams involving the Electric Fuel Zinc-Air Energy
System for electric vehicles in various locations
in the U.8. and Eurcpe.

The Department of Transportation-Federal
Transit Administration Zinc-Alr All Electric
Transit Bus Program

In the United States, our zinc-air technology
is the focus of a Zinc-Air All Eleciric Bus
demonstration program the costs and
expenditures of which are 50% offset by subcen-
tracting fees paid by the U.S. Department of
Transportation's Federal Transit Administration.
Phase | of the project, which was for $4 million,
was compieted in July 2000. Phase H of the
project, which is for $2.7 million, was approved
in the fourth quarter of 20C0.

The program provides that the bus will utilize
the new all-electric, battery/battery/uliracapaci-
tor-hybrid propulsion system that we are joinlly
developing with General Electric’s research and
development center, with funding from the Is-
raeli-U.S. Bi-National [ndustrial Research and
Development (BIRD) Foundation (described be-
fow). The bus used in the program is a standard
40-foot (12.2 meter) transit bus manufactured by
NovaBus Corporation. It has a capacity of 40
seated and 37 standing passengers and a gross
vehicle weight of 39,500 Ibs. (17,955 kg.). The
all-electric hybrid system consisis of an Electric
Fuel zinc-air fuel cell as the primary energy
source, an auxiliary battery to provide supple-
mentary power and recuperation of energy when
braking. Ulitracapacitors enhance this supple-
mentary power, providing faster throughput and
higher current in both directions than the auxil-
iary battery can supply on its own. The vehicle
draws cruising energy frem the zinc-air fuel cell,
and supplementary power for acceleration,
merging into traffic and hill climbing, from the
auxiliary battery and uliracapacitors.

The program, which includes General Elec-
fric, Nova Bus Corporation, and the Regional
Transportation Commission of Southern Nevada
(RTC) as project partners, seeks to demonstrate
the ability of the Electric Fuel battery system to
power a full-size, all-electric transit bus, provid-
ing a full day’s range for heavy duty city and
suburban routes, under all weather conditions. In
November 1998, a consortium consisting of
Electric Fuel, the Center for Sustainable Tech-
nology, L.L..C. and RTC received approvai for $2




million in federal subcontracting fees for the $4
million Zinc-Air Electric Transit Bus Program
(Phase |). Additional project partners included
the Community College of Southern Nevada and
the Desert Reseairch Institute. We successfully
completed this phase in July 2000. Phase ll,
which focuses on conducting evaluation of the
system and vehicle performance, including track
testing and limited on-road demonstrations, en-
hancing the all-electric propulsion system devel-
oped in Phase |, including incorporating ultraca-
pacitors and associated interface controls, and
testing and evaluating the zinc-air fuel ceil sys-
tem, received approval in the fourth quarter of
2000.

We believe that electric buses represent a
particuiarty important market for electric vehicles
in the United States. Transit buses powered by
diesel engines operate in large urban areas
where congestion is a fact of life and {raffic is
largely stop-and-go. As a result, they are the
leading contributor to inner city toxic emissions,
and are a major factor for those U.S. cities that
have been designated as in “non-attainment”
with respect to air quality standards. Moreover,
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has
identified particulate emissions from diesel en-
gine emissions as a carcinogen.

Our zinc-air energy system is particuiarly
suitable for transit buses because transit buses
must operate for up to 12 hours a day on a sin-
gle battery charge. Furthermore, transit buses
require a large energy storage battery to power
the vehicle while attending to passenger needs
such as air-conditioning and handicapped ac-
cess. The test program is designed to prove that
an all-electric bus can meet these and ail other
Las Angeles and New York Municipal Transit Au-
thority mass transit requirements including re-
quirements relating to performance, speed, ac-
celeration and hiil climbing.

All-Electric Hybrid Propulsion System for
Transit Buses and Heavy Duty Yehicles ~ the
BIRD Program

We and General Electric are also jointly
developing an all-electric, battery/battery-hybrid
propulsion system for powering electric buses
and heavy-duty trucks. In July 1998 the BIRD
Foundation awarded the two companies funding
for the joint development of the electric propul-
sion system. The first application for the system
will be an all-eleciric, zero-emission, fuil-size
transit bus, in the program subcontracted to us
by the Federal Transit Administration of the U.S.

Department of Transportation referred to above.
Our portion of the project was to develop a mo-
bile refueling system for the transit bus. The re-
fueling system, build in two standard 40" con-
tainers, was commissioned and successfully
demonstrated in the All Electric Bus project.
General Electric's portion of the project was to

~ develop the EMS Energy Management System,

which manages and controis ail the various en-
ergy suppliers and consumers of the bus. The
EMS was tested successfuily as part of the
integration drives completed under phase | of
the FTA project.

Germany ~ Consortium Project

In January 2000, we agreed to participate in
a new cooperative, all-electric hybrid vehicle de-
velopment and demeonstration program in Ger-
many. A consortium consisting of major German
industrial firms such as DaimlerChrysler AG and
Varta Batterie AG will implement the program.
The German Post, which sponsored an exien-
sive field test of our zinc-air fuel cell system for
electric vehicles from 1995 through 1998, has
also joined the consortium as an Advisory Part-
ner. In January 2001, we received a DM 1 million
($469,000) order for zinc-air fuel-cells and zinc
anodes that we delivered during 2001.

During the course of the 4-year, DM 24 mil-
lion ($11.5 million) program, the German firms
and certain academic institutions will develop
and demonstraie a hybrid vehicle based on a
DaimterChrysler cargo van, using our refuelable
zinc-air batteries (to provide the main energy
storage), high-power booster batteries provided
by Varia, and ultracapacitors under development
by Dornier GmbH (a division of DaimlerChrysler
Aerospace) and by a Siemens-Matsushita sub-
sidiary. Consortium organizers hope that the
program will eventually lead to commercializa-
tion of clean electric transporiation based on
these technologies. We will be paid by the pro-
ject for providing battery modules and battery
zinc anodes for refueling.

The consortium’s organizers include the
Bremen Institute for Orive Technology and
Ergonomics at the University of Bremen (BIBA)
and funding is being made available by the Ger-
man Federal Science Ministry is making the
funding available. According to BIBA's press
announcement, the Ministry selected the project,
called “Electrical Power Supply for Vehicles with
Long Range and High  Acceleration”
(abbreviated in German as “EFRB"), along with
five other energy-related projects, from 68
applicants for financing under the ministry’s
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nancing under the ministry's major scientific en-
ergy initiative called “Energy Production and
Storage for Peripheral and Mobile Applications.”

Defense and Security Products Division

The Defense and Security Products Division
(formerly the Defense and Safety Products Divi-
sion) is continuing to expand the development of
other advanced uses of the battery technology,
including an advanced portable zinc-air fuel ceil
for the U.S. Army. This division also oversees
our water-activated lifejacket lights for commer-
cial aviation and marine applications, and will
pursue further development of the safety prod-
ucts business.

Defense Products

Since 1988 we have received and per-
formed a series of contracts from the U.S.
Army's Communications-Electronics Command
(CECOM) to deveiop and evaluate advanced
primary zinc-air fuel cell packs. The terms of the
current extension of a contract initiaily issued in
2001 call for us to deliver 500 prototype battery
packs, and procure and install certain production
equipment, for which we are to be paid
$429,000. The 12/24 volt, 800 watt-hour battery
pack for battlefield power, which is based on our
zinc-air fue!l celi technology, weighs only about
five pounds and has approximately twice the en-
ergy capacity per pound of the U.S. Army's
standard lithium-suifur dioxide battery packs.

Our military battery packs, which are pro-
duced at our facility in Auburn, Ailabama, are
configured for use with a variety of portable mili-
tary communications equipment, including tacti-
cal radios and satellite-based communications
units.

The primary zinc-air fuel cell under devel-
opment for the Armed Forces represents some
technological advancements over the cell we are
currently producing for consumer battery appli-
cations, and could be the basis for a new gen-
eration of zinc-air cells for consumer batieries.
We intend to continue to pursue additional mili-
tary and security-related contracts and sales
opportunities for our primary zinc-air fuel cell.
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Safety Products

In 1986, we began to produce and market
lifejacket lights built with our patented magne-
sium-cuprous chloride batteries, which are acti-
vated by immersion in water (water-activated
batteries), for the aviation and marine safety and
emergency markets. At present we have a prod-
uct line consisting of four lifejacket light models,
all of which work in both freshwater and sea-
water. Each of our lifejacket lights is centified for
use by relevant governmental agencies under
various U.S. and international regulations. We
manufaciure, assemble and package all our life-
jacket lights in our factory in Beit Shemesh, Is-
rael.

Price Range of Common Stock

Since February 1894, our common stock
has been traded under the symbol EFCX on the
Nasdag National Market. The following table
sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of
high and low closing prices of our common stock
on the Nasdaq National Market System:

Year Ended December 31, 2001 High Low
Fourth Quarter............... $2.4300 $ 1.3000
Third Quarter ................ $ 2.7500 $ 1.3000
Second Quarter.............. $ 3.8500 $ 2.3000
First Quarter................... $ 8.0000 $ 3.5000

Year Ended December 31, 2000
Fourth Quarter............... $11.1875 $ 3.7500
Third Quarter ................. $15.000 $ 6.87590
Second Quarter.............. $16.125 §$ 4.5000
First Quarter......cccoo....... $23.875 $ 3.0825

As of April 22, 2002 we had approximately
260 holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends

We have never paid any cash dividends on
our common stock. The Board of Directors pres-
ently intends to retain all earnings for use in our
business. Any future determination as to pay-
ment of dividends will depend upon our financial
condition and results of operations and such
other factors as the Board of Directors deems
relevant.




Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data

The selected financial information set forth
below with respect to the statements of loss for
each of the three fiscal years in the period ended
December 31, 2001, and with respect to the bal-
ance sheets at the end of each such fiscal year
has been derived from our consolidated financial
statements audited by Kost Forer & Gabbay, in-
dependent certified public accountants in Israel
and a member firm of Emst & Young Interna-
tional.

The selecied financial information set forth
below with respect to the statements of loss for

Statement of Operations Data:
REVENUES ...

Research and development expenses and costs of
FEVENMUBS ...ttt

Operating (I05S) .. ..o iviiiii e
Financialincome, net...............ccoc .

Loss before taxes onincome........................
Taxes ON INCOMEB......i. i

Net 10SS ..o oo
Netloss pershare............c..cooooiiiiiiiii

Weighted average number of common shares used in
computing basic and diluted net loss per share (in
ThOUSANAS) ..ot

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments in market-
able debt securities....................

Receivables and otherassets.....................ccooe
Property and equipment, net of depreciation...............

Total ASSEIS ...

each of the two fiscai years in the period ended
December 31, 1998 and with respect to the bal-
ance sheet at the end of such fiscal year has
been derived from our financial statements au-
dited by Kesselman & Kesselman, independent
certified public accountants in lsrael and a
member firm of PriceWaterhouseCoopers Inter-
national Limited.

The financial information set forth below is
qualified by and should be read in conjunction
with “Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the notes thereto contained in this annual report.

Year Ended December 31,
1988 1392 2000

{dollars in thousands, except per share data)

1887

2001

$ 4526 $ 4013 $ 2694 §$ 4054 $ 4033

9,953 9,680 6,631 8,777 10,566
4,333 3,561 3,163 7.802 11,017
$ (9,760) $ (9,228) $ (7,100) $(12,525) $ (17,550)
775 652 190 544 263
$ (8,985) & (8576) $ (6,910) $ (11,981) $(17,287)
144 (43) 6 0 0
$ (9129) 3 (8533) § (6916) $.(11,981) $(17.287)
$ (073) $ (061) $ (048 $ (062) $ (071
12,502 14,013 14,334 19,243 24,200
As At December 31,

1997 1998 1993 2000 2001
$ 16',717 $ 8943 $ 2,556 $ 11,596 $ 12,672
3,985 3,021 3,307 9,614 6,996
4754 3,435 4,166 6,446 6,740
$ 25456 § 16390 § 10029 § 27,656 § 26,408
$ 6697 $ 4818 § 5787 $ 7578 $ 7,000
18,759 10,581 4242 20,078 19,408

$ 25456 § 15309 §.10.029 § 27656 § 26,408




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis
should be read in conjunction with the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements appearing else-
where in this annual report, and the notes
thereto. We have rounded amounts reporied
here to the nearest ihousand, unless such
amounts are more than 1.0 miliion, in which
event we have rounded such amounis to the
nearest hundred thousand.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements re-
quires us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabili-
ties at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. On an ongoing ba-
sis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments,
including those related to arrangements with ex-
tended payment terms, product returns, bad
debts, income tax provisions and legal contin-
gencies. We base our estimates and judgments
on historical experience and on various other
factors that we believe {0 be reascnabie under
the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not read-
ily apparent from other sources. Under different
assumptions or conditions, actual resulis may
differ from these estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting
policies, among others, affect our more signifi-
cant judgments and estimates used in the prepa-
ration of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition and Bad Debt

We recognize revenues from long-term re-
search and development agreements subcon-
tracted for the U.S. government when services
are rendered. We recognize revenues in respect
of products when, among other things, we have
delivered the goods being purchased and we be-
lieve collectibility to be reasonably assured. Our
provision for returns is based on our past ex-
perience. We peiform ongoing credit evaluations
of our customers’ financial condition and we re-
quire collateral as deemed necessary. An allow-
ance for doubtful accounts is determined with
respect to those accounts that we have deter-
mined to be doubtful of collection. If the financial
condition of our customers were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
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payments, additional allowances would be re-
quired, and this might cause a revision of recog-
nized revenues.

Inventories

VWe state our inventories at the lower of cost
or market value. Inventory write-offs and write-
down provisions are provided to cover risks aris-
ing from slow-moving items or technological ob-
solescence. Our reserves for excess and obso-
lete inventory are primarily based upon fore-
casted demand for our products, and any
change to the reserves arising from forecast re-
visions would be reflected in cost of sales in the
period the revision is made.

Subsequent Developments

On Jenuary 18, 2002 we issued and sold to
Grenville Finance Lid., for an aggregate pur-
chase price of $750,000, an aggregate of
441,176 shares of common stock. On January
24, 2002 we issued and sold to Special Situa-
tions Private Equity Fund, L.P., Special Situa-
tions Fund lil, L.P., Special Situations Technol-
ogy Fund, L.P. and Special Situations Cayman
Fund, L.P., for an aggregate purchase price of
$2,480,000, an aggregate of 1,600,000 shares
of common stock. Our total cash on hand imme-
diately subsequent to these offerings was ap-
proximately $15 millicn.

In March 2002, we demonstrated our zinc-
air electric bus in a public demonstration in
Washington, D.C., on Capitol Hill, with the par-
ticipation of certain members of the United
States Senate.

General

During 2001, we accelerated our efforts to
further develop, commercialize and market our
disposable Instant Power Zinc-Air chargers and
batteries for cellular phones and PDAs. We also
introduced several new devices, including a line
of disposable, ready-to-use back-up batteries for
popular models of camcorders and digital cam-
eras under our Instant Power brand. These
products use the proprietary high-rate primary
zinc-air technology that we developed for use in
portable electronic devices. We also focused
during the past year on expanding the distribu-
tion channels for our products, in order to con-
tinue the transition from a research and devel-
opment company {0 a giobal consumer goods




company, and on expanding the range of prod-
ucts that we offer.

Our line of existing products now includes
batteries for Nokia 5100/6100/7100 phones, and
chargers with SmartCords for varicus series and
models of Nokia, Motorola, Ericsson, Panasonic,
Siemens, Samsung, Audiovox, Nextel, Mitsubi-
shi, Sagem and Philips celiphones, models of
PocketPC, Palm, Handspring, Sony, HP, Casio
and Compag PDAs and Novatel wireless mo-
dems.

During 2001, we continued to increase our
marketing development with respect to our In-
stant Power line, particularly in the United
States, where we received orders from 7-Eleven
and RadioShack; Canada, where we received
orders from RadioShack Canada; Germany,
where we signed an exclusive distribution
agreement with respect to our chargers with
DNT GmbH; and the U.K., where we received
initial orders from Orange UK. As of the end of
2001, our products were being carried by retail-
ers in the U.S.,, the UK., Australia, Canada,
Germany, ltaly, Spain and Israel.

While we have successfully marketed our
products to retailers, certain of our customers
have indicated to us in response to a dramatic
slowdown in sales of celiular phone accessories
(particularly aggravated since September 11"‘),
as well as in retail in general, that we wouid
benefit from educating consumers and retail
sales personnel as to the advantages of dispos-
able chargers and batteries for cellphones and
PDAs. We have begun addressing this need,
both on our own and in cooperative programs
with certain of our retailers, through a merchan-
dizing campaign, as well as through in-store
merchandizing and training programs.

Our Zinc-Air cells are produced using a cus-
tom-designed, high-capacity automatic line de-
signed, engineered and custom-buit for our
needs.

During 2001, we continued to invest in
strengthening our intellectual property position.
We have 33 unexpired U.S. patenis and 15 cor-
responding European patents issued covering
general aspects and various applications of our
zinc-air technology. We also have more than 50
new applications filed, focusing specifically on
Instant Power chargers and batteries for con-
sumer electronic devices and cellphones.

Our Electric Vehicle Division is continuing its
American all-electric transit bus development

project, subcontracted by the Federal Transit
Administration (FTA). We successfully com-
pleted phase | of the FTA program in June 2000,
and are now engaged in Phase il of the pro-
gram, which focuses on conducting evaluation of
the system and vehicle performance, including
track testing and limited on-road demonstrations,
enhancing the ail-electric propulsion system de-
veloped in Phase |, including incorporating ultra-
capacitors and associated interface controls,
and testing and evaluating the zinc-air fuel cell
system.

In August 2001, we announced that we had
successfully completed the performance testing
of our zinc-air electric bus. In the final perform-
ance test, the bus was driven a record-breaking
total of 110 miles, more than 100 of them under
the rigorous stop-and-go driving conditions of
the Sociely of Automotive Engineers’ Ceniral
Business District (CBD) cycle, and with a load
simuiating 150% of the passenger payload for
which the bus was designed. The bus was de-
signed to be driven for 95 miles on the CBD cy-
cle with a 50% passenger {oad. The most recent
testing took place at Rome, New York, on a
taxiway of the former Griffiss Air Force Base,
and included evaluation of constant-speed driv-
ing and acceleration tests. We conducted the
first public on-road demonstration drives of our
zinc-air electric bus on the streets of Las Vegas,
Nevada on November 27, 2001 to conclude the
first milestone of our Phase 2 agreement with
the FTA to demonstrate and evaluate the all-
electric zinc-air transit bus.

Our Defense and Security Products Division
is continuing with the production of zinc-air fuel
cell packs for the U.S. Army’s Communications
Electronics Command (CECOM). The 12/24 volt,
800 watt-hour battery pack for battlefield power,
which is based on our zinc-air fuel cell technol-
ogy, is approximately the size and weight of a
notebook computer. The battery is based on a
new generation of lightweight, 30 ampere-hours
cells developed by us for both military and future
commercial products with high energy require-
ments. Additionally, the Defense and Security
Products Division is continuing with the introduc-
tion of the new emergency lights for the marine
life jackets market.

We have experienced significant fluctuations
in the sources and amounts of our revenues and
expenses, and we believe that the foliowing
comparisons of resuits of operations for the pe-
riods presented do not necessarily provide a
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meaningful indication of our development. Dur-
ing these periods, we have received periodic
jump-sum paymenis relating to licensing and
other revenues from our strategic pariners,
which have been based on the achievement of
certain milestones, rather than ratably over time.
Our expenses have been based upon meeting
the contractual requiremenis under our agree-
ments with various strategic pariners and, there-
fore, have also varied according to the timing of
activities, such as the need to provide prototype
products and to establish and engineer refueling
and regeneration facilities. Cur research and de-
velopment expenses have been offset, to a lim-
ited extent, by the periodic receipt of research
grants from Israel’s Office of the Chief Scientist.
We expect that, because of these and other fac-
tors, including general economic conditions and
delays due to legislation and regulatory and
other processes and the development of
competing technologies, future results of opera-
tions may not necessarily be meaningfully com-
pared with those of current and prior perieds.
Thus, we Dbelieve that pericd-to-period
comparisons of its past results of operations
should not necessarily be relied upon as
indications of future performance.

We incurred significant operating losses for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999. While we expect to continue to derive
revenues from the sale of chargers and batteries
for poriable electronic devices, components of
the Electric Fuel Electric Vehicle System, includ-
ing refueling and Electric Fue! services and de-
fense and safety products that we manufacture,
as well as from licensing rights to our technology
to third parties, there can be no assurance that
we will ever derive such revenues or achieve
profitability.

Functional Currency

We consider the United States doliar to be
the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment in which we and EFL operate and, there-
fore, both we and EFL have adopied and are us-
ing the Uniled States dollar as our funclional
currency. Further, we believe that the operations
of EFL's subsidiaries are an integral part of the
Israeli operations. Transactions and balances
originally denominated in U.S. doilars are pre-
senied at the original amounts. Gains and losses
arising from non-dollar transactions and bal-
ances are included in net income.

Results of Operations
Fiscal Year 2001 compared to Fiscal Year 2000

Revenues. Revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2001 tctaled $4.0 million, com-
pared to $4.1 million for 2000, a decrease of
$21,000.

During 2001, we recognized revenues from
the saie of consumer batteries, lifejacket iights
and portable high-power zinc-air fuel cell packs
for military use. We also recognized revenues
from subcontracting fees received in connection
with the United States Deparntment of Transpor-
tation (DOT) program which began in 1698 and,
after we completed Phase | in July of 2000, was
extended in the fourth quarter of 2000. We par-
ticipate in this program as a member of a con-
sortium seeking to demonstrate the ability of the
Electric Fuel battery system {c power a full-size,
all-eiectric transit bus. The total program cost of
Phase Il is approximately $2.7 miilion, 50% of
which will be covered by the DOT subcontracting
fees. Subcontracting fees cover less than ail of
the expenses and expenditures associated with
our participation in the program. We also re-
ceived electric vehicle revenues during 2001
from our German consortium (EFRB) project. In
2000, we derived revenues principally from the
sale of lifejacket lights and consumer batteries.
Additionaily, we also recognized revenues from
activities related to the DOT program.

in 2001, revenues were $1.9 million for the
instant Power Division (compared to $2.6 million
in 2000, a decrease of $625,000, or 27%),
$894,000 for the Electric Vehicle Division (com-
pared to $310,000 in 2000, an increase of
$584,000, or 188%) and $1.2 million for the De-
fense and Security Products Division (formerly
known as the Defense and Safety Products Divi-
sion) (compared to $1.2 mililicn in 2000).

Cost of revenues and gross less. Cost of
revenues totaled $7.1 millicn during 2001, com-
pared to $4.2 mitlion in 2000, an increase of $2.9
million, or 88%. This increase was the result of
increased number of units produced in 2001, as
well as a mark-down and write-off of certain in-
ventory as a result of price reductions. Gross
loss was $3.0 million during 2001, compared to
$135,000 during 2000, an increase of $2.9 mii-
fion.

Research and development expenses, net.
Research and development expenses less roy-
alty-bearing grants for 2001 were $3.5 million,




compared to $4.6 million in 2080, a decrease of
$1.1 million, or 24%.

Research and development expenses were
reduced by $705,000 during 2001 as a result of
recognition of grants from the Office of the Chief
Scientist of the Ministry of industry and Trade.
Our 2001 research and development grant
applications have been approved by the
Research Commitiee of the Office of the Chief
Scientist of the Ministry of Industry and Trade.
As a result, royalty-bearing grants of $705,000
from the Chief Scientist were recognized during
2001 (compared to $763,000 in 2000, a de-
crease of $58,000, or 8%) to offset research and
development expenses. in addition, $0 of royalty
bearing grants from the BIRD Foundation were
recognized during 2001 (compared to $195,000
in 2000). Research and development expernses
and cost of operations related to Instant Power
and Security applications are expected to con-
tinue to increase for 2002, as we intensify our ef-
forts in these new areas.

Direct expenses for our three divisions for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 were
$13.8 million for the Instant Power Division
(810.2 miltion in 2000, an increase of $3.6 mil-
lion, or 35%), $907,000 for the Electric Vehicle
Division ($473,000 in 2000, an increase of
$434,000, or 82%), and $1.4 million for the De-
fense and Security Products Division ($1.1 mil-
lion in 2000, an increase of $268,000, or 24%).
The increase of expenses in the Electric Vehicle
Division and the Instant Power Division was the
result of progress that was made in phase Il of
the FTA program and the German pregram, and
an increased number of units produced in our
Instant Power Division.

Net costs of fixed assets (net of accumu-
lated depreciation) at December 31, 2001 in the
Instant Power, Electric Vehicle and Defense and
Security Products Divisions were $5.0 million,
$666,000 and $322,000, respectively.

Selling expenses. Selling expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2001 were $6.3 mil-
lion, compared to $4.2 million in 2000, an in-
crease of $2.1 million, or 50%, primarily attribut-
able to increased sales and marketing expenses
in the Instant Power Division. We expect further
increases in selling expenses, particularly with
- respect to marketing expenses, as we continue
to market our products to consumers and ex-
pand the applications for our technoiogy.

General and administrative expenses. Gen-
eral and administrative expenses for 2001 were
$4.8 million compared to $3.6 million in 2000, an
increase of $1.2 million, or 31%.

Financial income. Financial income, net of
interest expenses and exchange differentials, to-
taled approximately $263,000 in 2001 compared
to $544,000 in 2000, a decrease of $281,000, or
52%, due primarily to lower interest rates and
lower balances of invested funds as a result of
our use of the proceeds of private placements of
our securities conducted in May and November
2000, which was only partially offset by income
from the proceeds of private placements of our
securities conducted in May, November and
December 2001, as well as a decrease in
interest income from certain shareholder loans.

Incoime taxes. \We and our israeli subsidiary
EFL incurred net operating losses or had earn-
ings arising from tax-exempt income during 2001
and 2000 and, accordingly, we were not required
to make any provision for income taxes. Taxes in
these entities incurred in 2001 and 2000 are
primarily composed of United States federal al-
ternative minimum taxes.

Net loss. Due fo the factors cited above, we
reported a net loss of $17.3 million in 2001, com-
pared to a net loss of $12.0 million in 2000, an in-
crease of $5.3 million, or 44%.

Fiscal Year 2000 compared to Fiscal Year 1999

Revenues. Revenues for the vear ended
December 31, 2000 totaled $4.1 million, com-
pared to $2.7 million for 1998, an increase of
$1.4 million, or 52%. This increase was the re-
suit cf an increase in revenues from the Instant
Power Division that resulted from increased
marketing of our Instant Power batteries for cel-
lular phones, an increase that was only partly
offset by the completion of phase | of the FTA
program and the concomitant drop-off in reve-
nues in the Electric Vehicle Division attributable
to that program.

During 2000, we recognized revenues from
the sale of lifejacket lights and sale of consumer
batieries. We also recognized revenues from
subcontracting fees received in connection with
the United States Department of Transportation
(DOT) program which began in 1998 and, after
we completed Phase | in July of 2000, was ex-
tended in the fourth quarter of 2001. We paitici-
pate in this program as a member of a consor-
tium seeking to demonstrate the ability of the
Electric Fuel battery system to power a full-size,
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all-electric transit bus. The total program cost of
Phase 1l is approximately $2.7 million, 50% of
which will be covered by the DOT subcontracting
fees. Subcontracting fees cover less than all of
the expenses and expenditures associated with
our participation in the program. in 1989, we de-
rived revenues principally from the saie of life-
jacket lights and consumer batteries. Addition-
ally, we also recognized revenues from activities
related to the DOT program.

In 2000, revenues were $2.6 million for the
Instant Power Division (compared to $0.3 million
in 1299, an increase of $2.3 million, or 905%),
$0.3 million for the Electric Vehicle Division
(compared to $1.2 million in 1999, a decrease of
$0.9 million, or 75%), and $1.2 million for the
Defense and Safety Division (compared to $1.0
million in 1999, an increase of $0.2 million, or
19%).

Research and development expenses and
cost of revenues. Research and development
expenses and cost of revenues totaled $8.8 mil-
lion during 2000, compared with $6.6 million dur-
ing 199¢ an increase of $2.2 million, or 33%.
This increase was primarily the result of an in-
crease in operations and engineering costs re-
lated to new product development, and the
ramping up of our automated production line. In
1999, we believed that, given our stage of de-
velopment, it was not yet meaningful to distin-
guish between research and development ex-
penses and cost of revenues. We did distinguish
between research and development expenses
and cost of revenues in 2000. In addition to the
increase in the overall research and develop-
ment expenses in 2000, the internal division of
expenses also changed between 1899 and
2000. This was principally atiributable to a re-
duction of expenses reiated to Electric Vehicle
battery development. This overall reduction was
partially offset by significant increases in the
costs associated with consumer preduct devel-
opment and the production of increased guanti-
ties of lifejacket lights in the Defense and Safety
Division.

Research and development expenses were
recduced by $1.0 million during 2000 as a result
of recognition of grants from the Office of the
Chief Scientist of the Ministry of Industry and
Trade and the BIRD Foundation. Our 2000 re-
search and development grant applications have
been approved by the Research Commitiee of
the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Ministry of
Industry and Trade. As a result, royalty-bearing
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grants of $763,000 from the Chief Scientist were
recognized during 2000 (compared to $9256,000
in 1988, a decrease of $233,000, or 18%) to off-
set research and development expenses. In ad-
dition, $195,000 of royalty bearing grants from
the BIRD Foundation were recognized during
2000 (compared to $277,000 in 1999, a de-
crease of $82,000, or 30%). Research and de-
velopment expenses and cost of operations re-
lated to Instant Power and Defense and Safety
applications are expecied to continue to in-
crease for 2001, as we iniensify our efforts in
these new areas.

Direct expenses for our three divisions for
the fiscal year ended 2000 were $10.2 million for
the Instant Power Division ($3.C milion in 1998,
an increase of $7.2 million, or 240%), $0.5 mil-
lion for the Electric Vehicle Division ($2.7 million
in 1999, a decrease of $2.2 million, or 81%), and
$1.1 million for the Defense and Safety Division
($1.2 million in 1899, a decrease of $0.1 million,
or 8%). The shift in expenses from the Electric
Vehicle Division to the Instant Power Division
was the result of the completion of phase | of the
FTA program and the increased marketing of our
Instant Power batteries for celiular phones, as
discussed above.

Net costs of fixed asseis (net of accumu-
lated depreciation) at December 31, 2000 in the
Instant Power, Electric Vehicle and Defense and
Safety Divisions were $4.5 miilion, $0.9 million
and $0.4 million, respectively.

Selling, general and adminisirative ex-
penses. Seiling, general and administrative ex-
penses for the year ended December 31, 2000
were $7.8 million, compared to $3.2 million in
1898, an increase of $4.6 million, or 144%. This
increase was primarily attributable to increased
sales and marketing expenses in the Instant
Power Division during 2000. We expect addi-
tional increases in selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses during 2001, particularly relat-
ing to marketing expenses in consumer battery
applications, as we continue to expand the ap-
plications for our technology.

Financial income. Financial income, net of
interest expense, exchange differentials, bank
charges, and other fees, totaled approximately
$544,000 in 2000, compared to $190,000 in
1989, an increase of $354,000, or 186%, due
primarily to higher balances of invested funds as
a result of the depaesit of the proceeds of private
placements of cur securities conducted in 2000.




Income faxes. We and our Israeli subsidiary
EFL incurred net operating losses or had earn-
ings arising from tax-exempt income during the
years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 and,
accordingly, we were not required to make any
provision for income taxes. Taxes in these enti-
ties incurred in 2000 and 1999 are primarily
composed of United States federal alternative
minimum taxes.

Net losses. Due to the factors ciied above,
we reported a net loss of $12.0 million in 2000,
compared with a net toss of $6.2 million in 1999,
an increase of $5.1 million, or 74%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2001, we had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately $12.7 million,
compared with $11.8 miilion as of December 31,
2000, an increase of $1.1 million, or 9%. The in-

crease in cash was primarily the result of the pri- -

vate placements of our securities described be-
low.

We used available funds in 2001 primarily
for continued research and development expen-
ditures, and other working capital needs. We in-
creased our investment in fixed assets by $1.3
million during the year ended December 31,
2001, primarily in the Instant Power Division.
Our fixed assets amounted to $6.7 million as at
year end.

Our Israeli subsidiary EFL presently has a
line of credit with the First international Bank of
Israe! Ltd. (FIBI) of up to $750,000, secured by
such security as we and the bank shall agree
upon from time to time. This credit facility im-
poses financial and other covenants on EFC and
EFL. As of December 31, 2001, the bank had is-
sued letters of credit and bank guarantees total-
ing approximately $36,000.

During 2001, certain of our employees exer-
cised options under our registered employee
stock option plan. The proceeds to us from the
exercised options are approximately $206,000.

On November 21, 2001 we issued and soid
to Orsay Services Inc., for an aggregate pur-
chase price of $2,000,000, an aggregate of
1,503,758 shares of common stock.

On December 5, 2001 we issued and sold to
Vertical Ventures International, for an aggregate
purchase price of $2,000,000, an aggregate of
1,190,476 shares of common stock.

We have no long term debt outstanding, and
we are using our cash reserves and revenues
from operations primarily to continue develop-
ment of chargers and batteries for consumer
electronic devices, as well as to participate in the
FTA Electric Vehicte program. Furthermore, in
the third quarler of 2000, we established a
commercial preduction line and we are preparing
for market penetration of our new Instant Power
zinc-air chargers and batteries for several mod-
els of cellular telephones and PDAs.

Approximately 28.3% of the stock of our Is-
raeli-based subsidiary EFL is now owned (di-
rectly, indirectly or by application of certain attri-
bution rules) by four United States citizens. If at
any time in the future, more than 50% of either
(i) the voting power of our stock, or (i) the total
value of our stock, is held or deemed to be held
by five or fewer individuals (including, if applica-
ble, those individuals whe currently own an ag-
gregate of 28.3% of our stock) who are United
States citizens or residents, EFL would satisfy
the foreign personal holding company stock
ownership test under the internal Revenue Code
and we could be subject to additional U.S. taxes
on any undistributed foreign personal holding
company income of EFL. For 2001, EFL had no
income which would qualify as undistributed for-
eign personal holding company income. How-
ever, no assurance can be given that in the fu-
ture EFL will not have income that qualifies as
undistributed foreign personal holding company
income.

We believe that our present cash position
and cash flows from operations will be sufficient
to satisfy our estimated cash requirements
through the next year. We are seeking additional
funding, inciuding through the issuance of equity
or debt securities. However, there can be no as-
surance that we will obtain any such additional
funding. If additional funding is not secured, we
intend to further modify, reduce, defer or elimi-
nate certain of our anticipated future commit-
menis and/or programs, in order to continue fu-
ture operations.

impact of Inflation and Currency Fluctuations

Historically, the majority of our revenues
have been in U.S. dollars. The United States
dollar cost of our operations in Israel, with regard
to expenses incurred in NIS, is influenced by the
extent to which an increase in the rate of infla-
tion in Israel is not offset by the devaluation of
the NIS in relation to the dollar. In the past two
years, inflation in Israel has been more than fully
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compensated by the devaluation of the NIS and,
accordingly, the dollar cost of our NIS expenses
has decreased. Even if the recent trend is re-
versed (as was the case in previous years), we
do not believe that continuing inflation in Israel
or delays in the devaluation of the NIS are likely
to have a material adverse effect on us, except
fo the extent that such circumstances have an
impact on [srael's economy as a whole. In the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, the annual rates of inflation in Israel were
1.3%, 0.0% and 1.3%, respectively, compared to
the devaluation of the NIS against the dollar dus-
ing such periods of 9.3%, (2.7)% and 0.0%, re-
spectively.

Effective Corporate Tax Rate

Our production facilities in Israel have been
granted “Approved Enterprise” status under the
Israel Law for Encouragement of Capital invest-
ments, 5719-19859, and consequently are eligible
for certain tax benefits for seven to ten years af-
ter they first generate taxable income (provided
the maximum period as prescribed by ilaw has
not elapsed). We have elected to receive a grant
of funds together with a reduced tax rate for the
aforementioned period.

EFL'’s effective corporate tax rate may be af-
fected by the classification of certain items of in-

come as being “approved income” for purposes
of the Approved Enterprise law, and hence sub-
ject to a lower tax rate (25% to 10%, depending
on the extent of foreign ownership of EFL -
presenily 15%) than is imposed on other forms
of income under Israeli law (presently 36%). The
effective tax upon income we distribute to our
stockholders weuld be increased as a result of
the withholding tax imposed upon dividends dis-
tributed by EFL to EFC, resulting in an overall ef-
fective corporate tax rate of approximately 28%
for income arising from EFL's Approved Enter-
prises and 44% regarding other income.

EFC and EFL have incurred net operating
losses or had earnings arising from tax-exempt
income during the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1988 and accordingly no provi-
sion for income taxes was required. Taxes in
these entities paid in 2001, 2000 and 1999 are
primarily composed of United States federal al-
ternative minimum taxes.

As of December 31, 2001, we had U.S. net
operating loss carry forwards of approximately
$7.0 million that are available to offset future
taxable income, expiring primarily in 2015, and
foreign net operating loss carry forwards of ap-
proximately $75.0 million, which are available
indefinitely to offset future taxable income.




| ERNST & YOUNG

REPORT OF (INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To the Shareholders of

ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Electric Fuel Corporation (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated state-
ments of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the pe-
riod ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s man-
agement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporiing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statemenis. An audit also in-
cludes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial staiement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reason-
able basis for our opinion. '

In our apinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001
and 2000, and the consolidated resuits of their operations and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

Tel Aviv, Israel KOST FORER & GABBAY
January 29, 2002 A Member of Ernst & Young International




ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivabies (net of allowance for doubtful accounts in
the amounts of $444,534 and $107,388 as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively and allowance for returns in the
amounts of $834,000 and $793,600 as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively)

Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (Note 3)

Inventories (Note 4)

Total current assets
NOTES RECEIVABLE FROM SHAREHOLDERS (Note 5)
SEVERANCE PAY FUND

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Note &)

December 31,

2001

2000

U.S. dollars
$12,871,754 $ 11,596,225
1,230,258 2,212,434
714,946 2,418,715
3,472,197 3,208,948
18,089,156 19,436,322
501,288 778,677
1,078,131 995,283
6,739,665 6,446,064
$ 26,408,240 $ 27,656,346

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND (TS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Trade payables
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 8)

Total current liabilities
ACCRUED SEVERANCE PAY
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 9)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Note 10):

Share capital
Common stock — $0.01 par value each;
Authorized: 100,000,000 shares as of December 31, 2001
and 2000; issued: 29,059,468 shares and 21,422,691 shares
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively
Qutstanding — 28,504,136 shares and 21,417,358 shares as
of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively
Preferred shares — $ 0.01 par value each;
Authorized: 1,000,000 shares as of December 31, 2001 and
2000; No shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2001 and 2000

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Deferred stock compensation
Treasury stock, at cost (common stock — 555,333 shares and
5,333 shares as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively)

Notes receivable from shareholders

Total shareholders’ equity

December 31,
2001 2000

U.S. dollars
$ 1,824,957 $ 3,242,460
1,730,799 1,544,975
3,555,756 4,787 435
3,444 427 2,790,542
290,596 214,227
104,254,109 87,658,990
(80,736,461) (63,449,673)
(18,000) (17,240)
(3,537,106) (37,731)
(845,081) (4,200,204)
19,408,057 20,078,369
$ 26,408,240 $ 27,656,346

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

- Year ended December 31,
- 2001 2000 1899
N U.S. dollars (except for share data)

Revenues $ 4,032,888 $ 4,053,562 $ 2,693,998
Cost of revenues ¥) 7,053,602 4,188,442 -
Gross profit (l0ss) *) (3,020,714) (134,880) 2,693,998
Research and development, net (Note 12a) *) 3,512,084 4,588,137 6,631,075
Sales and marketing expenses 6,255,703 4,160,902 760,359
General and administrative expenses 4,760,866 3,641,220 2,402,284
Total operating costs and expenses 14,528,653 12,380,259 9,793,718
Operating loss (17,548,367) (12,525,139) (7,098,720)
Financial income, net (Note 12b) 262,579 544 181 190,049
Loss before taxes on income (17,286,788) (11,280,258) (6,909,671)
Taxes on income (Note 11) - - 8,017
Net loss $ (17,286,788) $ (11,980,858) $ (6,915,688)
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.71) 3 (0.62) $ (0.48)
Weighted average number of shares used in

computing basic and diluted net loss per share 24,200,184 19,243,446 14,334,277

*} In 1989 the Company’s cost of revenues were included in research and development costs (see Note
2k).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1998
U.S. dollars

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used
in operating activities:

$ (17,286,788) § (11,980,958) $ (6,915,688)

Depreciation 980,008 753,810 710,759

Accrued severance pay, net 571,037 249,195 (298,056) .

Amortization of deferred stock compensation 11,047 46,934 -

Compensation expenses and write-off of noies

receivable from shareholders 471,619 - -~

Compensation expenses related to options is-

sued to consultants 160,995 769,128 -~

Amortization of compensation related to shares

issued to consultants 15,488 - -

Accrued interest on notes receivable from

shareholders - (230,924) (51,659)

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables and

other accounts receivable and prepaid expen-

ses 2,674,104 (2,657,682) 464,056

Iincrease in inventories (263,249) (2,163,468) (670,937)

Increase (decrease) in trade payables and

other accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,037,635) 1,257,016 1,200,315

Decrease in deferred revenues - - (136,549)

Other 813 (6,330) (2,761)
Net cash used in operating activities (13,863,179) (5,700,520)

(13,702,561)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND TS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and eguipment
Payment to suppliers for purchase of property
and eguipment

Loans granted to shareholders

Repayment of loans granted to shareholders

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale mar-
ketable securities

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of shares, net
Proceeds from exercise ¢f options and warrants
Payment of interest and principal on notes re-
ceivable from shareholders

Net cash provided by financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Supplementary information on non-cash activities:
Purchase of property and egquipment against trade
payables

Purchase of treasury stock in respect of notes receiv-
able from shareholders

Issuance of shares (including additional paid-in capi-
tal) against notes receivable.

Issuance of shares in respect of prepaid expenses
Exercise of options and warrants against notes re-
ceivable

Liabilities in respect of share issuance expenses

Supplemental disclosure of cash flows activities:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest

Income taxes

The accompanying nofes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1988
U.8. dollars

(1,275,303) (2,858,512) (1,473,444)
(227,230) - -
- (958,156) -
- 225,097 -
40,2497 57,867 34,643
- - 3,702,411
(1,462,318) (3,533,704) 2,283,610
14,923,925 18,150,710 750,000
1,310,981 5,681,701 -
5,500 2,705,052 -
16,240,406 26,537,463 750,000
1,075,529 9,040,580 (2,686,910)
11,596,225 2,555,645 5,242,555
$ 12,671,754 $ 11,596,225 2,555,645
$ 39,336 $ 227,230 -
$ 3499375 § - -
$ - - 2,435,850
3 - $ 525,000 -
43,308 3,704,076 -
- — 123,749
19,106 25,537 38,202
25,000 34,149 23,430




ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1:— GENERAL

Electric Fuel Corporation (“EFC,” “Electric Fuel,”
or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries are en-
gaged in the design, development and commer-
cialization of its proprietary zinc-air battery tech-
nology for portable consumer electronic devices
such as cellular telephones products, as well as
for electric vehicles and defense applications.
The Company is primarily operating through
Electric Fuel Ltd. ("EFL") a wholly-owned |sraeli
based subsidiary. The Company's production
and research and development are primarily lo-
cated in Israel.

In November 2000, the Company established a
wholly-owned subsidiary in the UK ("EFL U.K.").
The Company has two wholly-owned non-
operating subsidiaries, in Germany (“GmbH")
and in the Netherlands (“BV”"), as weli as two
subsidiaries in the United States: Electric Fuel
Transportation Corp. (Delaware) and Instant
Power Corporation (Delaware}.

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statemenis have
been prepared in accordance with generally ac-
cepted accounting principles in the United States
(*U.S. GAAP").

a. Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounis re-
ported in the financial statements and accompa-
nying notes. Actual resulis could differ from
those estimates.

b. Financial statements in U.S. dollars:

The Company's transactions are recorded in
U.S. dollars, and its subsidiaries’ transactions
are recorded in new Israeli shekels and pounds
sterling; however, the majority of EFL’s sales are
made outside Israel in U.S. dollars, and a sub-
stantial portion of EFL’s costs is incuired in U.S.
dollars. The majority of financial transactions of
EFL UK is in U.S. dollars and a substantial por-
tion of EFL UK'’s costs is incurred in U.S. dollars.

The Company’s management believes that the
dollar is the primary currency of the economic
environment in which the Company and each of
its subsidiaries operate. Thus, the functicnal and
reporting currency of the Company and its sub-
sidiaries is the U.S. dollar.

Accordingly, monetary accounts maintained in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar are remeas-
ured into U.S. dollars in accordance with State-
ment No. 52 “Foreign Currency Translation” of the
Financial Accounting Standard Board ("FASB").
All transaction, gains and losses from the re-
measured monetary balance sheet items are re-
flected in the consolidated statements of opera-
tions as financial income or expenses, as
appropriate.

c. Principles of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated upon consoli-
dation.

d. Cash equivalents:

Cash equivalents are shori-term highly liguid in-
vestments that are readily convertibie to cash
with original maturities of three months or less.

e. Inventories:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market value. Inventory write-offs and write-
down provisions are provided to cover risks aris-
ing from slow-moving items or technological ob-
solescence. Cost is determined as follows:

Raw and packaging materials — by the “moving
average basis” method.

Work in progress — represents the cost of devel-
opment in progress.

Finished products — on the basis of direct manu-
facturing costs with the addition of allocable indi-
rect manufacturing costs.

f. Property and equipment:

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of
accumulaied depreciation and investment
grants.

Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, at the following annual rates:

%

Computers and related equipment 33
Motor vehicles 15
Office furniture and equipment 6-10
Machinery, equipment and installation 10-25
(mainly 10}
Leasehold improvements Over the term
of the lease

The Company and its subsidiaries periodically
assess the recoverability of the carrying amount

27 |




ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

of property and equipment fixed assets and pro-
vide for any possible impairment ifoss based
upon the difference Dbetween the carrying
amount and fair value of such asseis in accoer-
dance with SFAS No. 121 “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-
Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” For each of
the three years ended December 31, 2001 the
Company did not record any impairment losses
on long-lived assets.

g. Revenue recognition:

Revenues from products are recognized in ac-
cordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101,
“Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements
("SAB No. 101") when the following criteria are
met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement ex-
ists, delivery has occuired, the selier’s price to
the buyer is fixed or determinable and coliectibil-
ity is reasonably assured.

Revenues from long-iterm research and devel-
opment agreements, subcontracted for the U.S.
government, are recorded on a cost plus basis
when services are rendered (see Note Sc¢).

The Company’'s provision for returns is provided
in accordance with FAS 48 “Revenue Recogi-
tion when Right Of Return Exists,” based on the
Company’s past experience. The Company ac-
crues estimated sales returns upon recognition
of sales.

Revenues from the development services of the
production that require significant customization,
integration and installation are recognized based
on Statement of Position 81-1 “Accounting for
Performance of Construction - Type and Certain
Production - Type Contracts,” using contract ac-
counting on a percentage of completion method,
based on the relationship of actual costs incurred
to total costs estimated to be incurred over the
duration of the contract and in accordance to the
“Input Method."

h. Warranty costs:

The Company provides a warranty at no extra
charge for one vear. A provision is recorded in re-
spect of probable costs in connection with
warranties, based on the Company's experience.

i. Income taxes:

The Company and its subsidiaries account for
income taxes in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109,
“Accounting for income Taxes.” This Statement
prescribes the use of the liability method,
whereby deferred tax assets and liability account
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balances are determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of as-
sets and liabilities and are measured using the
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse.
The Company and its subsidiaries provide a
valuation allowance, if necessary, to reduce de-
ferred tax assets to their estimated realizable
value.

j.  Royalty-bearing grants:

Royalty-bearing grants from the Office of the
Chief Scientist (“OCS") of the Israeli Ministry of
Industry and Trade and from the Israel-U.S. Bi-
national Industriai Research and Development
Foundation (“BIRD-F") for funding approved re-
search and development projects are recognized
at the time the Company is entitled to such
grants on the basis of the costs incurred, and in-
cluded as a deduction of research and develop-
ment costs.

k. Cost of revenues:

in 1988, the Company’s cost of revenues were
included in research and development costs,
since the Company’s production was integrated
with the product development process, it was
impossible to segregate the cost of revenues
from the research and development expenses,
since these expenses were interrelated by their
nature.

.  Concentrations of credit risk:

Financial instruments that potentially subject the
Company and its subsidiaries to concentrations
of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables and netes receiv-
able from shareholders. Cash and cash equiva-
lents are invested in U.S. dollar deposits with
major Israeli, U.S. and U.K. banks. Such depos-
its in the U.S. may be in excess of insured limits
and are not insured in other jurisdictions. Man-
agement believes that the financial institutions
that hold the Company’s investments are finan-
cially sound and, accordingly, minimal credit risk
exists with respect to these investments.

The trade receivables of the Company and its
subsidiaries are mainly derived from sales to
customers located primarily in the United States
and Europe. Management believes that credit
risks are moderated by the diversity of its end
customers and geographic sales areas. The
Company performs cngoing credit evaluations of
its customers’ financial condition and requires
collateral as deemed necessary. An allowance
for doubtful accounts is determined with respect
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to those accounts that the Company has deter-
mined to be doubtful of collection.

The notes receivable from shareholders are from
financialiy sound sharehoiders.

The Company has no off-balance-sheet concen-
tration of credit risk such as foreign exchange
contracis, option contracts or other foreign hedg-
ing arrangements.

m. Basic and diluted net loss per share:

- Basic net loss per share is computed based on
the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during each year. Di-
luted net loss per share is computed based on
the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during each year,
plus dilutive potential shares of common stock
considered outstanding during the year, in ac-
cordance with FASB Statement No. 128, “Earn-
ings Per Share:”

All outstanding stock options and warrants have
been excluded from the calculation of the diluted
net loss per common share because all such
securities are anti-dilutive for all periods
presented. The total weighted average number of
shares related to the outstanding options and
warrants excluded from the calculations of diluted
net loss per share was 3,170,334, 2,812,725 and
2,820,679 for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1998, respectively.

n. Accounting for stock-based compensation:

The Company has elected to follow Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees” (*“APB 25”) and in-
terpretation No. 44 “Accounting for Certain
Transactions Involving Stock Compensation”
(“FIN 44™) in accounting for its employee stock
option plans. Under APB 25, when the exercise
price of the Company’'s share options is less
than the market price of the underlying shares
on the date of grant, compensation expense is
recognized. The pro forma disclosures required
by SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123"), are provided in
Note 10.

The Company applies SFAS 123 and EiTF 96-
18 “Accounting for Equity Instruments that are
Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or
in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services”
with respect to options issued to non-employees.
SFAS 123 requires use of an option valuation
model to measure the fair value of the options at
the grant date.

0. Advertising costs:

The Company and its subsidiaries expense ad-
vertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense
for the vears ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999, was approximately $1,676,280
$1,453,025 and $364,957, respectively.

p. Fair value of financial instruments:

The following methods and assumptions were
used by the Company and its subsidiaries in es-
timating their fair value disclosures for financial
instruments:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equiva-
lents, trade receivable and irade payable ap-
proximate their fair value due to the short-term
maturity of such instruments,

The carrying amount of the Company’s long-
term notes receivables frem shareholders ap-
proximates their fair value. The fair value was
estimated using discounted cash flow analyses,
based on the Company’s incremental borrowing
rates for similar type of borrowing arrangements.

q. Severance pay:

The Company'’s liability for severance pay is cal-
culated pursuant to Israeii severance pay law
based on the most recent salary of the employ-
ees multiplied by the number of vears of em-
ployment as of the. balance sheet date. The
Company records as expense the net increase
in its funded or unfunded severance liability.
Employees are entitled to one month’s salary for
each year of employment, or a portion thereof.
The Company'’s liability for ail of its employees is
fuily provided by monthly deposits with sever-
ance pay funds, insurance policies and by an
accrual. Deposits with severance pay funds and
insurance policies are under the control of the
Company.

In addition and according to certain employment
agreements, the Company is obligated to pro-
vide for a special severance pay in addition to
amounts due to ceriain employees pursuant to
Israeli severance pay law. The Company has
made a provision for this special severance pay.
As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the accu-
mulated severance pay amounted to $1,975,535
anc $1,586,372, respectively.

The deposited funds include profits accumulated
up to the balance sheet date. The deposited
funds may be withdrawn only upon the fuifiiiment
of the obligation pursuant to Israeii severance
pay law or labor agreements. The value of the
deposited funds is based on the cash suiren-
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dered value of these policies and include imma-
teriai profits.

Severance expenses for the years ended De-
cember 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, amounted 10
approximately  $653,885, $430,843 and
$203,690, respectively.

r. Research and development cost:

Research and development costs are charged to
the statement of operation as incurred.

s. lmpact of recently issued accounting stan-
dards:

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Fi-
nancial Accounting Standard No. 141 “Business
Combinations” ("SFAS 141") and Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard No. 142 “Good-
will and Other intangibie Assets” (“SFAS 1427).
SFAS 141 requires all business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for
using the purchase method. Under SFAS 142,
goodwill and intangible asseis with indefinite
lives are no longer amortized but are reviewed
annually (or more frequently if impairment
indicators arise) for impairment. Separable
intangible assets that are not deemed to have
indefinite lives wili continue to be amortized over
their useful lives (but with no maximum life). The
amortization provisions of SFAS 142 apply to
goodwill and intangible assets acquired after
June 30, 2001. With respect to goodwill and
intangible assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001,
the Company is required tc adopt SFAS 142

effective January 1, 2002. During 2002, the
Company will perform the first of ihe required
impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite lived
intangible assets as of January 1, 2002 and has
not vet determined what the effect of these tests
will be on the earnings and financial position of
ihe Company. Application of the non-
amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 may
result in an increase in net income.

FASB recently issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived As-
sets,” (“SFAS 144") that is applicable to financial
statements issued for fiscal vears beginning after
December 15, 2001. FASB's new rules on the as-
set impairment supersede FASB Statement 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived As-
sets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed
Of,” and portions of APB Opinion 30, “Reperiing
the Results of Operations.” SFAS No. 144 pro-
vides a single accounting model for fong-lived as-
sets to be disposed of and significantly changes
the criteria that must be met to classify an asset
as “held-for-sale.” Classification as “held-for-sale”
is an important distinction since such assets are
not depreciated and are stated at the lower of fair
value and carrying amount. SFAS No. 144 also
requires expected future operating losses from
discontinued operations to be displayed in the pe-
riod(s) in which the losses are incurred, rather
than as of the measurement date as presently re-
quired. The provisions of SFAS No. 144 are not
expected to have a material effect on the Com-
pany’s financial position or operating results.

NOTE 3:- OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAID EXPENSES

Government authorities
U.S. government
Employees

Prepaid expenses
Other

NOTE 4:- INVENTORIES

Raw and packaging materiais
Work in progress
Finished products

December 31,

2001 2000
U.S. dollars
$ 425,593 $ 1,726,282
- 45,749
16,862 162,518
241,150 299,082
31,341 185,084

714,846

$ 2,418,715

$ 1097492 §$ 1,581,048

356,152
2,018,553

$ 3,472197

457,319
1,170,581

$ 3,208,948
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NOTE 5:- NOTES RECEIVABLE FROM SHAREHOLDERS

In February and May 2000, two officers of the
Company exercised opticns to purchase a total
of 263,330 and 550,000, respectively, shares of
the Company's common stock. In connection
with such exercises, the Company granted loans
to those two officers to cover their related tax li-
abilities. The loans were in the form of non- re-
course promissory note in the total amount of

NOTE 6:— PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

$733,059 bearing interest at a rate equal to 4%
over the then-current percentage increase in the
Israeli consumer price index between the date of
the foan and the date of the annual interest cal-
culation. During 2001, 550,000 shares were re-
puirchased from such officers, in exchange for
repayment of the promissory notes and related
tax liabiiities.

a. Composition of property and equipment is as follows:

Cost:
Computers and related equipment
Motor vehicles
Office furniture and equipment
Machinery, equipment and installations
Leasehold improvements

Accumulated depreciation:
Computers and related equipment
Motor vehicles
Office furniture and equipment
Machinery, equipment and instaliations
Leasehold improvemenis

Depreciated cost

December 31,

2001 2000
U.S. dollars

$ 786,158 $ 636,997
336,216 389,019
313,760 311,885
9,396,636 8,502,762
888,841 732,291
11,721,611 10,572,954
566,290 445,209
62,523 139,024
180,498 162,530
3,526,145 2,826,656
646,420 553,471
4,981,946 4,126,890
$ 6,739,665 $ 8,448,064

b. Depreciation expense amounted to $980,008, $753,810 and $710,759, for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2001, 2000 and 1899, respectively.
As for liens, see Note 2d.

NOTE 7:~ SHORT-TERM BANK CREDIT

The Company has an unused line of credit up to
$750,000, secured by such security as the Com-

Company and the bank shall agree upon from
time to time. :

NOTE 8:~ OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Employees and payroll accruals
Accrued vacation pay

Accrued expenses

Advances from customers
Warranty

Royalties

Other

*  Reclassified

December 31,

2001 2000
U.S. dollars

$ 884,262 (*% 591,992
419,679 388,350
221,653 (* 220,282
98,070 -
54,000 100,000
48,955 62,000
6,180 182,351

$ 1,730,798 $ 1,544,975
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NOTE 9:- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

a. Royalty commitments:

1. Under the Company’s research and devel-
opment agreements with the OCS, and pursuant
to applicable laws, the Company is required to
pay royalties at the rate of 3%-3.5% of net sales
of products developed with funds provided by
the OCS, up to an amount equal to 100% of re-
search and develcpment granis received from
the OCS (linked fo the U.S. dollars. Amounts
due in respect of projects approved after year
1999 also bear interest of the Libor rate).

2. EFL, in cooperation with a U.S. participant,
has received approval from the BIRD-F for 50%
funding of a project for the development of a hy-
brid propulsion system for transit buses. The
maximum approved cost of the project is ap-
proximately $1.8 million, and the Company’s
share in the project costs is anticipated to
amount to approximately $1.1 million, which will
be reimbursed by BIRD-F at the aforementioned
rate of 50%.

Royalties at rates of 2.5%-5% of sales are pay-
able up to a maximum of 150% of the grant re-
ceived, linked to the U.S. Consumer Price Index.
Accelerated royalties are due under ceriain cir-
cumstances.

3. The Company is obligaied to pay royaities
only on sales of products in respect of which
OCS and BIRD-F pariicipated in their develop-
ment. Should the project fait, the Company will
not be obligated to pay any royalties.

Royalties paid or accrued for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, to the OCS
amounted to $75,791, $70,637 and $68,169, re-
spectively and to BIRD-F $0 for each of the
three years ended December 31, 2001.

As of December 31, 2001, total contingent liabil-
ity to pay royalties are as follows: OCS (at
100%) — approximately $9,764,000; BiRD-F (at
150%) — approximately $772,000.

b. Lease commitments:

The Company and its subsidiaries rent their facili-
ties under various operating lease agreements,
which expire on various dates, the latest of which
is in 2005. The minimum rental payments under
non-cancelable operating ieases are as follows:
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Year ended
December 31,
__US.dollars _
2002 438,761
2003 396,388
2004 214,199
2005 174,612
1,223,960

Total rent expenses for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, were approxi-
mately $456,701, $261,000 and $345,000, re-
spectively.

Rental payments are primarily payable in Israeli
currency, linked 1o the lsraell Consumer Price
Index ("CPI").

¢c. Agreements with the Federal Transit Ad-
ministration:

In 1998, the Company, in cooperation with U.S.
participants entered into phase | of an agree-
ment with the U.S. government (Department of
Transportation — Federal Transit Administration)
for performance of sub-contracted services in
regard to the construction and operation of a
passenger bus for the U.S. government.

The services are priced on a cost plus basis to
be paid by the U.S. government and are limited
to the maximum approved cost of the project
which is approximately $2,000,000. The Com-
pany's share in the project is approximately
$1,750,000.

Revenues in respect of phase |, for the year
ended December 31, 2000 and 1898, were:
$253,582 and $1,212,675, respectively.

During the last quarter of 2000, a phase [l was
signed, limited to maximum approved cost of the
project which is approximately $1,361,000. The
Company's share in the project is approximately
$804,000. Revenues in respect of phase I, for
the year ended December 31, 2001 were
$422,998.

d. Liens:

As security for compliance with the terms related
to the investment grants from the state of [srael,
EFL has registered floating liens on all of its as-
sets, in favor of the State of Israel.




ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND |TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e. Guarantees:

The Company obtained bank guarantees in the
amount of $36,076, mainly in respect of lease
agreements.

NOTE 10:~ SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
a. Shareholders’ rights:

The Company’s shares confer upon the holders
the right to receive notice to participate and vote
in the general meetings of the Company and
right to receive dividends, if and when declared.

b. Financial transactions:

1. Non-recourse notes receivable from em-
ployee-shareholders arising from the purchase
of 1,500,000 of the Company’s shares, matured
in 1898. The notes were renewed as recourse
notes, due.on December 31, 2007, bearing in-
terest at a rate of 1% over the then-current fed-
eral funds rate of 5.5% or linked to the Israeli
CPI, whichever is higher. In April 1998, the terms
of the recourse notes were amended such that
the Company would have recourse only to cer-
tain termination compensation due te the em-
ployee-shareholders  (which  exceeds the
amounts outstanding under the notes), or if ter-
minated for cause, the employee-shareholders
would continue to be personally liable.

Additionally, the Company agreed to purchase
Company shares from the emplovee-
shareholders, at prevailing market prices, up to
the full amount outstanding under the notes and
{o grant new options at exercise prices equal o
prevailing market prices, in the amount that the
shares were sold by the employee-shareholders.

In March 2000, the employee-shareholders ex-
ercised certain stock options. The proceeds from
the sale of the shares were aliocated to the re-
payment of the ioan referred to above. As of De-
cember 31, 2001, there was no outstanding bal-
ance on the loan.

2. On December 3, 1989, two officers of the
Company each purchased 125,000 shares of
common stock out of the Company's treasury at
the closing price of the common stock on De-
cember 2, 1999. Each such officer’'s purchase
price of $167,975 was financed by the Company
by a non-recourse note secured by the pur-
chased shares bearing interest at 2%, with inter-
est calcufated and charged in advance based on
a term of ten years.

3. On December 28, 1988, the Company en-
tered into an agreement with a group of private

investors, inciuding Mr. Leon S. Gross, a director
of Electric Fuel Corporation and one of the exist-
ing shareholders. Pursuant to the agreement,
the Company issued 1,425,000 shares of Com-
mon stock for total purchase price of
$2,850,000. The Company also issued warrants
to purchase up to an additional 1,425,000
shares of the Company’s common stock to the
investors. Pursuant to the terms of these war-
rants, a total of 251,186 shares of common stock
were issued to such warrant holders in 2000 on
a cashless exercise basis. As of December 31,
2000, 1,050,000 warrants had been exercised,
in addition to the warrants issued on a cashiess
basis.

4. On January 5, 2000, the Company entered
into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement with
a group of private investors. Pursuant to this
agreement, on January 10, 2000, the Company
issued 385,000 shares of common stock to the
investors for a totai purchase price of $862,500.

5. On February 9, 2000 and in May 2000, cer-
tain officers of the Company exercised options to
purchase a total of 263,330 and 550,000, re-
spectively, shares of the Company's common
stock, paying the exercise price in the form of
ten-years non-recourse promissory noies in an
aggregate amount of $858,326 and $3,045,750,
respectively. The notes are secured by the
shares issued upon exercise of such options,
bearing interest at a rate equal to the federal
fund rate + 1%. Certain of these shares were re-
purchased from such officers in exchange for
repayment of the promissory notes, as described
in Note 10.b.10 below

6. On May 17, 2000, the Company entered into
an agreement with an investor, pursuant to
which the Company issued 1,000,000 shares of
common stock to the investor, at a price of
$10.00 per share, for a total purchase price of
$10,000,000. In addition, the Company subse-
qguently issued an additional 92,852 shares of
common stock pursuani to the anti-dilution cal-
cutation stated in the share purchase agreement
with the investor.

7. On May 25, 2000, the Company repriced
150,000 warrants from $6.60 per share to $4.95;
these warrants were immediately exercised by
{he warrant holder. The Company also repriced
160,000 warrants held by this same warrant
holder from $3.375 per share to $4.85. As a re-
suit of the forgoing, the Company recorded
compensation in an amount of $256,260.
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8. In June 2000, 35,000 shares of common
stock were issued to a supplier. Accordingly, the
Company recorded compensation expenses of
$405,000 and prepaid expenses of $120,000 as
of December 31, 2000.

8. On November 17, 2000, the Company en-
tered into an agreement with a venture capital
fund, pursuant to which the Company issued
1,000,000 shares of common stock to the inves-
tor, at a price of $8.375 per share, for a total
purchase of $8,375,000. The Company also is-
sued warrants fo purchase an additional
1,000,000 shares of common stock to the inves-
tor, with exercise prices of between $11.31 and
$12.56 per share. In addition, the Company is-
sued warrants io purchase 150,000 shares of
common stock with exercise prices of between
$9.63 and $12.56 per share, to an investment
banker involved in this agreement. Out of these
warramts issued to the investor, 666,667 war-
rants expire on November 17, 2005 and 333,333
warrants expire on August 17, 2001. These war-
rants were subsequently re-priced, as described
in Note 10.b.12 below and the 333,333 warrants
that were to expire on August 17, 2001 were ex-
ercised for a total consideration of $840,000. Cut
of the 150,000 warrants issued to the investment
banker, 100,000 warrants expire on November
17, 2005 and 50,000 warrants expire on August
17, 2001. These warrants were subsequently re-
priced, as described in Note 10.b.12 below, and
the 50,000 warrants that were to expire on Au-
gust 17, 2001 were extended to November 17,
2005. Such warrants are subject to typical antidi-
lution provisions.

10. In February 2001, the Board of Directors of
the Company, upon the recommendaticn of iis
Compensation Committee and with the agree-
ment of the officers involved, purchased a total
of 550,000 of the shares referred 10 in Note
10.b.5 above in exchange for repayment of the
non-recourse notes from the officers in the
amount of $3,499,375. $3,251,113 out of this
amount relates to 550,000 shares from May
2000. The remaining amount of $248,262 repre-
senis repayment of other notes.

11. In May 2001, the Company issued a total of
4,045,454 shares of its common stock to a group
of institutional investors at a price of $2.75 per
share, or a total purchase price of $11,125,000.
Additionally, the Company issued to these inves-
tors a total of 2,696,871 warrants to purchase
shares of common stock at a price of $3.22 per
share; these warrants are exercisable by the
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holder at any time after November 8, 2001 and
will expire on May 8, 20086.

12. As part of the transaction described in the
foregoing note, the Company, in May 2001, re-
priced the warrants referred to in Note 10.b.9
above. The exercise price of the warrants that
were exercisable at $12.56 was reduced to
$3.50 and $3.08, the exercise price of the war-
rants that were exercisable at $11.31 was re-
duced to $2.52 and the exercise price of the
warrants that were exercisable at $9.63 was re-
duced to $3.08. Additionally, the Company is-
sued to this investor an additional warrant to
purchase 250,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $3.08 per share, expiring on
May 3, 2006. The Company also issued to a fi-
nancial consultant that provided certain consuli-
ing services concurrently with this transaction a
total of 125,000 warrants to purchase shares of
comimon stock at a price of $3.22 per share;
these warrants are exercisable by the holder at
any time after December 12, 2001 and wiil ex-
pire on June 12, 20086.

13. On September 17, 2001 the Company is-
sued a consuitant a totai of 8,550 shares of its
common stock in compensation for services
rendered by such consultant for the Company
for preparation of certain video point-of-purchase
and sales demonstration materials. The Com-
pany recorded total compensation expenses of
$15,488.

14. On September 17, 2001 the Company is-
sued to a distributor a total of 337,571 shares of
its common stock at its fair value.

15. On November 21, 2001, the Company is-
sued a total of 1,503,752 shares of its common
stock at a purchase price of $1.33 per share, or
a total purchase price of $2,000,000, to a single
institutional investor.

18. On December 5, 2001, the Company issued
a total of 1,180,478 shares of its common stock
at a purchase price of $1.68 per share, or a total
purchase price of $2,000,000, o a single institu-
tional investor.

¢. Stock option plans:

1. The Company has adopted the following
stock option plans, whereby options may be
granted for puichase of shares of the Com-
pany's common stock. Under the terms of the
employee plans, the Board of Directors or the
designated committee will grant options and will
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determine the vesting period and the exercise
terms.

a) 1991 Empioyee Option Plan - 2,115,600
shares reserved for issuance, of which 33,692
are available for future grants to employees.

b) 1993 Employee Option Plan — as amended,
4 200,000 shares reserved for issuance, of
which 300,526 are available for future grants to
employees.

¢) 1988 Employee Option Plan — as amended,
4,750,000 shares reserved for issuance, of
which 2,846,388 are available for future grants
to employees and consultants.

d) 1985 Non-Employee Direcior Plan -
1,000,000 shares reserved for issuance, of
which 680,000 are available for future grants to
directors. Directors receive an initial grant of op-
tions to purchase 25,000 shares of the Com-
pany’s common stock and thereafter receive an-
nual option grants to purchase 10,000 shares of

common stock for serving on the Board of Direc-
tors. All employee options will be granted at fair
market value.

2. Under these plans, options generally expire
no later than 10 years from the date of grant.
Each option can be exercised to purchase one
share, conferring the same rights as the other
common shares. Options that are cancelled or
forfeited before expiration become available for
future grants.

The options generally vest over a three-year pe-
riod (33.3% per annum).

3. A summary of the status of the Company’s
plans and other share options (except for op-
tions granted to consuitants) granted as of De-
cember 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, and changes
during the years ended on those dates, is pre-
sented below:;

2001 2000 1999
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
exercise exercise exercise
Number price Number _price Number price
$ $ $
Options outstanding at
beginning of year 2,624,225 $ 3.82 2,820,679 $ 3.44 2964255 % 3.70
Changes during year:
Granted (1) 2,172,314 $§ 1.55 1,568,233 $ 4.58 496,475 § 1.56
Exercised (159,985) % 1.31 (1,715,628) $ 3.84 - -
Repriced:
Old exercise price - - (310,000) $ 4.85 - -
New exercise price - - 310,000 $ 4.95 - -
Forfeited or canceled (396,346) $ 4.11 (79,059) $ 4.93 (640,051) § 3.25
Options outstanding at
end of year 4,240,228 § 2.74 2,624,225 § 3.82 2,820,678 $ 344
Options exercisabie at
end of year 2,643,987 §$ 275 1,078,332 $ 3.81 2,082,390 §$ 3.91

(1) Includes 1,189,749, 870,000 and 182,500 options granted to related parties in 2001, 2000 and 1999,

respectively.
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4. The following table summarizes information about options outstanding as of December 31, 2001:

Opticns cutstanding Options exercisable
Number Weighted Weighted Number exercisable Weighted
Range of outstanding at average remaining average at December 31, average
exercise prices December 31, 2001 contractual life exercise price 2001 exercise price
$ Years $ $

0.3-2 2,268,819 8.01 1.38 1,389,764 1.35
3-4 463,909 4.79 2.99 406,961 299
4-6 1,437,500 8.40 4.58 787,262 4.68
6-8 60,000 3.02 7.43 50,000 7.53
8- 10,000 575 9.06 10,000 0.06
4,240,228 8.25 2.74 2,643,987 2.75

The compensation cost that has been charged in the consolidated statements of operations in respect of
options to employees in 2001, 2000 and 1999, was $11,047, $46,934 and $0, respectively. Such amount
is presented as a reduction of shareholders’ equity and is amortized ratably over the vesting period of the
related options.

Weighted-average fair values and exercise price of options on dates of grant are as follows:

Equals market price Exceeds market price Less than market price
Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Weighted average ex-
ercise prices $1.579 $4.580 $1.560 $1.466 $7.125 - $1.30 $5.270 -
Weighted average fair .
value on grant date $0.50 $4.120 $1.320 $0.56 $3.760 - $0.79 $6.600 -

Pro forma information under SFAS 123:

Pro forma information regarding net loss is required by SFAS No. 123 (for grants issued after December
1994), and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under
the fair value method of that Statement. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes Option Valuation Model, with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2001 2000 1999

Dividend vyield 0% 0% 0%

Expected volatility 58% 95% 120%

Risk-free interest 2-5% 6.5% 5.5%

Expected life of up to 3 years 10 years 10 years

2004 2000 1999
As reported Pro forma As reported Pro forma As reported Pro forma
U.8. dollars

Net loss $(17,286,788) §$(20,175,934) §$(11,980,958) $(14,006,038) $(6,915,688) § (8,367,584)
Basic and diluted
net loss per share  § (0.71) $§ (0.83) 3 (0.62) $ (0.73) § (0.48) $  (0.58)
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5. Options issued to consultants:
a) The Company’s outstanding options to consultants as of December 31, 2001, are as follows:

Options for Average exer- Average exer-

commaen cise price per Options cise price Exercisable
Issuance date shares share exercisable per share through
% — 5
Previous years 113,500 4.99 113,500 4,99 2010
February 2001 100,000 7.40 - - 2010
August 2001 30,000 1.43 10,000 1.43 2004

b) The Company had accounted for its options to consuliants under the fair value method of SFAS No.
123 and EITF 86-18. The fair value for these options was estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2001 2000 1893
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 82% 95% 120%
Risk-free interest 3.5-4.5% 6.5% 5.5%

Expected life of up to 1 year 5 years 10 years

¢) In connection with the grant of stock options to consultants, the Company recorded stock compensa-
tion expenses totaling $160,995 and $796,128 for the vears ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 respec-

tively.
6. Dividends:

In the event that cash dividends are declared in the future, such dividends will be paid in U.S. dollars. The
Company does not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

NOTE 11:— INCOME TAXES
a. Taxation of U.S. parent company (EFC):

As of December 31, 2001, EFC has operating
loss carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax
purposes of approximately $7 million, which are
available to offset future taxable income, if any,
expiring in 2015.

b. Israeli subsidiary (EFL):

1. Tax benefits under the Law for the Encour-
agement of Capital Investments, 1959 (the “In-
vestments Law”):

EFL's manufacturing facility has been granted
“Approved Enterprise” status under the Invest-
ments Law, and is entitled to investment granis
from the State of israel of 38% on properly and
equipment iocated in Jerusalem, and 10% on
property and eqguipment located at its plant in
Beit Shemesh, and to reduced tax rates on in-
come arising from the “Approved Enterprise,” as
detailed betow.

The approved investment program is in the
amount of approximately $500,000. EFL effec-
tively operated the program during 1893, and is
entitled to the tax benefits available under the
Investments Law. EFL is entitled to additional tax
benefits as a “foreign investment company,” as
defined by the investments Law. In 1995, EFL

received approval for a second “Approved En-
terprise” program for investment in property and
equipment, in the amount of approximately
$5,000,000, and approval for grants at the
abovementioned rates, for these approved prop-
erty and equipment.

in 2000, EFL received approval for a third “Ap-
proved Enterprise” program for investment in
property and equipment, in the amount of ap-
proximately $4,500,000, and approval for grants
at the abovementioned rates, for these approved
property and equipment.

The entitlement to the above benefits is condi-
tional upon the Company’s fulfilling the condi-
tions stipulated by the Investments Law, regula-
tions published thereunder and the instruments
of approval for the specific investments in “ap-
proved enterprises.” in the event of failure to
comply with these conditions, the benefiis may
be canceled and the Company may be required
to refund the amount of the benefits, in whole or
in part, including interest. As of December 31,
2001, the Company had fulfilled all conditions.
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The main tax benefits available to EFL are:

a) Reduced tax rates:

During the period of benefits (seven to ten
years), commencing in the first year in which
EFL earns taxable income from the “Approved
Enterprise,” a reduced corporate tax rate of be-
tween 10% and 25% (depending on the per-
centage of foreign ownership, based on present
ownership percentages of 15%) will apply, in-
stead of the regular tax rates (see 4, below).

The period of tax benefits, detailed above, is
subject to limiis of 12 years from the com-
mencement of production, or 14 years from the
approval date, whichever is earlier. Hence, the
first program will expire in the year 2004 and the
second in the year 2008. The commencement of
production according to the third program hasn't
been determined yet by the investment center
and so there is no ability to determine the period
of the tax benefits according to this program.
The benefits have not yet been utilized since the
Company has no taxable income, since its in-
corporation.

b) Accelerated depreciation:

EFL is entitled to claim accelerated depreciation
in respect of machinery and equipment used by
the "Approved Enterprise” for the first five years
of operation of these assets.

2. Measurement of results for tax purposes
under the Income Tax Law (inflationary Adjust-
ments), 1985

Results for tax purposes are measured in real
terms of earnings in NIS after cerlain adjust-
ments for increases in the Consumer Price In-
dex. As explained in Note 2b, the financial
statements are presented in U.S. dollars. The
difference between the annual change in the is-
raeli consumer price index and in the NIS/dollar
exchange rate causes a difference between tax-
able income and the income before taxes shown
in the financial statements. In accordance with
paragraph 9(f) of SFAS No. 108, the Company
has not provided deferred income taxes on this
difference between the reporting currency and
the tax bases of assets and liabilities.
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3. Tax benefits under the Law for the Encour-
agement of Industry (Taxation), 1869:

EFL is an “industrial company,” as defined by
this law and, as such, is entitled to certain tax
benefits, mainly acceierated depreciation, as
prescribed by regulations published under the in-
flationary adjustments law, the right to claim pub-
lic issuance expenses and amortization of know-
how, patents and ceriain other intangible prop-
erty rights as deductions for tax purposes.

4. Tax raies applicable to income from other
SOurces:

Income from sources other than the “Approved
Enterprise,” is taxed at the regular rate of 36%.

5. Tax rates applicable to income distributed as
dividends by EFL:

The effective taxes on income distributed by EFL
{o its parent company, EFC, would increase as &
result of the Israeli withholding tax imposed upon
such dividend distributions. The overall effective
tax rate on such distribution would be 28%, in
respect to income arising from EFL's “Approved
Enterprise,” and 44% in respect of other income.
EFL does not have any earnings available for
distribution as dividend, nor does it intend to dis-
tribute any dividends in the foreseeabie future.

8. Tax loss carryforwards:

As of December 31, 2001, EFL has operating
loss carryforwards for Israeli tax purposes of ap-
proximately $75 million, which are available, in-
definitely, to offset future taxable income.

¢. European subsidiaries:

Income of the European subsidiaries, which is
derived from intercompany transactions, is
based on.the tax laws in their countries of domi-
cile.

d. Deferred income taxes:

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects
of temporary differences between the carmrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial re-
porting purposes and amounts used for income
tax purposes. Significant components of the
Company's deferred tax assets resulting from
tax loss carryforward are as follows:




ELECTRIC FUEL CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31,

2001 2000
U.S. dollars
Domestic income taxes:
Deferred tax asset *) $ 2,462,000 $ 862,750
Less - valuation allowance (2,462,000) (862,750)
$ - $ -
Foreign income taxes:
Deferred tax asset *) $ 10,178,000 $ 8,125,000
Less — valuation allowance (10,178,000) (8,125,000)
$ - $ -

*}  Mainly in respect of loss carryforwards, deductible expendimres reported as a reduction of the pro-
ceeds from issuing shares, accrued severance pay and depreciation on property and equipment.

The Company and its subsidiaries provided valuation allowances in respect of deferred tax assets result-
ing from tax loss carryforwards and other temporary differences. Management currently believes that it is
more likely than not that the deferred tax regarding the loss carryforwards and other temporary differ-
ences will not be realized.

e. Loss before taxes on income:
Year ended December 31

2001 2008 1999
g U.S. doliars
Domestic $ (5.828,828) $ (2,021661) $  (232,205)
Foreign (11,457,960) (9,959,297) (6,677,466)

$ (17,286,788)  $ (11,980,858) $ (6,909,671)

NOTE {2:~ SELECTED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA

Year ended December 31
2001 2000 1999
U.8. dolfars

a. Research and development, net (In 1999 included also COGS).

Research and development
costs $ 4,199,891 $ 5,546,519 $ 7,834,051
Less royaity-bearing grants 687,807 958,382 1,202,976

$ 3,512,084 $ 4,588,137 $ 6,631,075

b. Financial income, net:

Financial expenses:
[nterest, bank charges and

fees $ (49,2486) $ (67,480) $ (71,074)
Foreign currency translation
differences (16,003) (219,043) (32,661)
(65,249) (286,523) (103,735)
Financial income:
Interest 327,828 830,704 293,784
Total $ 262,579 $ 544,181 $ 180,049
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NOTE 13:— RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Year ended Decemiber 31,

2001 2000 1889

U.S. dollars

Transactions:
Selling, general and administrative
expenses

32,850 $ 28,800 $ 15,750

Financial (expenses) income, net (see

(36,940) $

230,924 § 51,659

Note 5 and Note 10.b.5)

NOTE 14:— SEGMENT INFORMATION
a. General:

The Company operates primarily in three busi-
ness segments (see Note 1 for a brief descrip-
tion of the Company’s business) and follows the
requirements of Statement of Financial Stan-
dards No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information” ("SFAS
No. 1317).
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The Company's reportable segments are strate-
gic business units that offer different products.
They are managed separately because each
business requires different marketing strategies.
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b. The following is information about reported segment gains, losses and assets: -

Electric and security Consumer .
vehicles products batteries All other Total
U.S. dollars

2001:

Revenues from oulside customers $ 884,045 $ 1,199,587 $ 1,939,256 § - $ 4,032,888
Depreciation expense (242,678) (61,760) (449,995) (225,575) (980,008)
Direct expenses (1) (907,286) (1,388,215)  (13,816,934) (4,489,812)  (20,602,247)
Segment gross loss $ (255,919) $ (250,388) §$(12,327,873) $(4,715,387)  (17,549,367)
Financial income, net 262,579
Net loss $(17,286,788)
Segment assets (2) 665,736 $ 645378 $ 8,180,785 $ 719,953 § 10,211,862
Expenditures for segment assets $§ - 8 21,376 $ 069,278 $ 323985 $ 1,314,639
2000:

Revenues from outside customers $ 310,441 $ 1,168,054 $§ 2,563,821 § 11,446 $ 4,053,562
Depreciation expense (249,796) (60,612) (232,668) (203,834) (753,210)
Direct expenses (1) (472,770) (1,120,020)  (10,246,838) (3,985,083)  (15,824,791)
Segment gross loss $ (412,125 $ (12,578) $ (7,822,985) $ (4,177,451) (12,525,139)
Financial income, net 544,181
Net loss $(11,980,958)
Segment assets (2) $ 908414 $ 556,863 $ 7,527,160 $ 662575 §$ 9,655,012
Expenditures for segment assets $ - § 7671 $ 2,767,083 $ 310,988 $ 3,085,742
1999:

Revenues from ouiside customers $ 1,228,854 $ 979,123 §$ 254981 $ 230,030 $ 2,693,998
Depreciation expense (234,550) (85,281) (149,259) (241,659) (710,759)
Direct expenses (1) (2,659,478)  (1,242,652) (3,007,398) (2,173,431 (2,082,259)
Segment gross loss $(1,664,174) $ (348,820) $ (2,801,666) § (2,185,060) (7,099,720)
Taxes on income (6,017)
Financial income, net 190,048
Net loss $ (6.915,688)
Segment assets $ 1,129,771 $ 360,553 $ 1,516,519 & 1,158,926 § 4,165,769
Expenditures for segment assets $ 221,808 § 80,657 § 042,450 § 228,529 $ 1,473,444

(1) Including sales and marketing, general and administrative expenses.
(2) Including property and equipment and inventory.

Defense
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¢. Summary information about geographic areas:

The following presents total revenues according to end customers location for the years ended December

31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, and long-lived assets as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1989

2001 2000 1899
Total Long-lived Total Long-ived Total Long-lived
revenues assets revenues assefs Fevenues assets
U.S. dollars
U.S.A. $2,055773 $ 986068 $ 2664105 $ 62914 $2282643 $ 35,038
Germany 602,700 - 51,988 - 71,198 -
England 556,581 - 211,349 - 59,400 -
Other 817,834 6,640,059 (*1,126,120  (* 6,383,150 (* 280,757 (* 4,129,731
— $4,032,888 $6,739,665 $ 4,053,562 $6,446,064 $2,693,098 $4,165,769
N *  Reclassified
d. Revenues from major customers:
2001 2060 1999
%
Electric vehicles:
Customer A 12% - -
Customer B 10% 6% 45%
Defense and security products:
Customer C 7% 7% 13%
Consumer batteries
Customer D - 36% -
NOTE 15:- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
i On January 18, 2002, the Company issued a fo- On January 24 2002, the Company issued a to-

tal of 1,600,000 shares of its common stock at a
purchase price of $1.55 per share, or a total pur-
chase price of $2,480,000, to a group of inves-
tors.

tal of 441,176 shares of its common stock at a
purchase price of $1.70 per share, or a total pur-
chase price of $750,000, to an investor.




SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA

Quarterly Financial Data {unaudited) for the two vears ended December 31, 2001

Quarter Ended

2001 Mareh 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Net revenue .........ccoeev e $ 725959 §$ 1034218 $ 1,214,115 $ 1,058,595
GrOSS 10SS ..vcvvvveeeeeeeeeer e $ (235,826) $(1,219,621) $ (818,719) $ (761,855)
NetJOSS.....civvriiiiicic e $(3,424,964) $(4,590,840) $(4,410,556) $(4,860,438)

Net loss per share — basic and diluted $ (0.16) $ (018 $ (0.19) $ (0.18)
Shares used in per share calculation.. 21,802,499 23,562,098 23,612,087 26,648,318

2000 Magch 31 June 30 September 3¢ December 31
NEt FEVENUE ...t $ 652946 $ 632541 $ 565,387 $ 2,201,708
GIOSS 0SS ..o, $(1,423,902) $(1,230,490) $(1,211,023) $ (857,602)
Netloss....coove i $(2,473,739) $(2,860,494) $(2,753,504) $(3,893,221)

Net loss per share — basic and diluted $ (0.14) § 0.15) $ (0.14) $ 0.19)
Shares used in per share calculation.. 17,168,343 18,935,208 20,231,981 20,843,030
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held on Wednesday, June 12, 2002, at 10:00 a.m. local time in
the Baliroom of the Shelburne Murray Hiil Hotel, 303 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York.

Stock Transfer Agemnt

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 40 Wall Street, New York, New York 10005.

Shares Traded

The stock of Electric Fuel Corporation is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol EFCX.

Independent Auditor
Kost Forer & Gabbay, a member firm of Ernst & Young International, 3 Aminadav Street, Tel-Aviv, Israel.

Forms 10-K
Our Annual Report on Form 10-K provides additional information and is on file with the Securities

and Exchange Commission. it is available free of charge upon written request to Stockholder Re-
lations, Electric Fuel Corporation, 612 Broadway, Suite 301, New York, New York 10012.

Product Literature

Our product literature is available free of charge upon written request to Marketing Communications,
Electric Fuel Limited, P.O. Box 641, Western Industrial Park, Beit Shemesh 98000, israel. Information is
also available on the Internet. Our corporate website is at hitp://www.electric-fuel.com. Reference to
our website does not constitute incorporation of any of the information thereon into this annual report.
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Electric Fuel”

- “Electric Fuel Corporation
632 Broadway, Suite 301
New York, NY 10012
USA
Tel: 212-529-9200
Fax: 212-529-5800
USinfo@electric-fuel.com

Electric Fuel Limited
Western Industrial Park
PO Box 641

Bet Shemesh 99000
Israel

Tel: +972-2-990-6666
Fax: +972-2-990-6688
info@electric-fuel.com

www.electric-fuel.com




